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Introduction 
 
On January 24, 2013, a number of entities that have renewable energy supply 
procurement contracts with the Ontario Power Authority (“OPA”) in respect of 
wind generation facilities (the “Applicants”) collectively filed with the Ontario 
Energy Board an application under section 33(4) of the Electricity Act, 1998 
seeking the review of certain amendments to the market rules made by the 
Independent Electricity System Operator (“IESO”).   The market rule 
amendments in question deal with the dispatching of, and the establishment of 
floor prices for, variable generation facilities.  
 
1. The Documents at Issue and Related Procedural Matters  
 
On January 29, 2013, the IESO filed a number of documents in response to a 
Letter of Direction issued by the Board on January 22, 2013.1  Certain of the 
documents produced by the IESO were redacted.  By letter dated February 1, 
2013, the IESO explained the redactions a follows:  some of the redactions had 
been made for reasons of relevance (these were listed in Schedule A to the 
IESO’s letter); nine of the documents had been redacted given the IESO’s 
understanding that the OPA intended to assert confidential treatment over them 
(these were listed in Schedule B to the IESO’s letter); and one of those nine 
documents had been redacted given the IESO’s understanding that both the 
OPA and the Ministry of Energy intended to assert confidential treatment over it 
(this was listed in Schedule C to the IESO’s letter, and also appears in Schedule 
B).   
 
In its February 4, 2013 Procedural Order No. 2, the Board ordered the OPA to 
produce all nine documents listed in Schedules B and C to the IESO’s February 
1, 2013 letter, and to do so in accordance with Rule 10 of the Board’s Rules of 
Practice and Procedure and the Board’s Practice Direction on Confidential Filings 
(the “Practice Direction”).  The Board also indicated that, if the Ministry of Energy 
wished to make a submission in respect of the confidentiality of the one 
document listed in Schedule C to the IESO’s letter, the Ministry could do so 
directly or through the OPA.   
 
                                                 
1 Proceeding EB-2013-0010, since combined with this proceeding.  A revised filing was made on 
January 31, 2013 that included a supplementary document.   
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On February 6, 2013, the OPA filed and served on all parties redacted versions 
of the nine documents in question, together with its request for confidential 
treatment of eight of those documents.  The OPA also filed un-redacted versions 
of the nine documents with the Board.  In its confidentiality request, the OPA 
noted that a submission on the ninth document would be made by the Ministry of 
Energy.  The Ministry of Energy’s confidentiality request, including a non-
confidential summary of the document in question, was also filed and served on 
all parties on February 6, 2013.   
 
The Board’s Procedural Order No. 2 also noted the Board’s expectation that the 
issue of the confidentiality of the nine documents would be on the agenda for the 
February 8, 2013 Settlement Conference and that, failing settlement, the Board 
would hear submissions on that issue during the February 11, 2013 hearing of 
the Applicants’ motion for the production of further materials from the IESO.   At 
that hearing, the Board confirmed that submissions on the confidentiality issue 
would instead be made in writing, and established a schedule for that purpose. 
 
Both the OPA and the Ministry of Energy filed submissions in support of their 
respective confidentiality claims on February 13, 2013.  In its submissions, the 
OPA stated that its confidentiality claim, as well as the grounds for that claim, 
should be understood as extending to the document that is also the subject of the 
Ministry of Energy’s claim for confidentiality.    
 
For convenience, the nine documents that are the subject of the confidentiality 
requests filed to date are listed in a table set out in Appendix A to these Board 
staff submissions (using the document identification numbers from the IESO’s 
February 1, 2013 letter).  In that table and in the remainder of these submissions, 
the documents over which only the OPA is asserting confidential treatment are 
referred to as “OPA Claim Documents” and the document over which both the 
OPA and the Ministry are both asserting confidential treatment is referred to as 
the “Ministry/OPA Claim Document”.   
 
2. Document IESO0003476 
 
On February 5, 2013, the IESO filed a letter with the Board indicating that a 
document over which the OPA has advised that it intends to assert confidential 
treatment had been inadvertently produced in un-redacted form in the IESO’s 
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January 29, 2013 filing.  That un-redacted document, covering bates nos. 
IESO0003476 to IESO0003496 (“Document 3476”), was not listed in Schedule B 
or C to the IESO’s February 1, 2013 letter as being the subject of an intended 
confidentiality claim.    
 
Un-redacted Document 3476 was attached to submissions that had been filed by 
the Applicants earlier in the day on February 5, 2013 and served on all of the 
parties.  The Applicants subsequently re-filed their submissions on February 8, 
2013 (but still dated February 5, 2013), attaching a redacted document identified 
as document bearing bates nos. IESO0003503.1 to IESO0003503.22 in lieu of 
un-redacted Document 3476.  Counsel for the IESO has confirmed with Board 
staff that Document 3476 is the same as document IESO0003503.1, which itself 
was included in Schedule B to the IESO’s letter.   
 
Based on the redacted versions, there appears to be little difference between 
Document 3476 and document IESO0003503.1, on the one hand, and another 
document listed in Schedule B to the IESO’s February 1, 2013 letter; namely, the 
document bearing bates nos. IESO0003497 to IESO0003503.     
 
3. Other Redacted Documents 
 
On February 6, 2013, the IESO made a further filing in response to the Board’s 
Procedural Order No. 2.  In the letter accompanying that filing, the IESO 
identified two further documents over which the IESO understands that the OPA 
intends to assert confidential treatment.  Those two documents had initially been 
redacted by the IESO for reasons of relevance and were listed in Schedule A of 
its February 1, 2013 letter.  They are identified in Appendix 1 to the IESO’s 
February 6, 2013 letter as follows: 
 

Document No. Title 

IESO0003589 Addressing Dispatch and Curtailment of 
Renewable Facilities – Joint OPA and IESO 
Presentation (July 13, 2010) 

IESO0003634 Integration of Renewables:  RES and FIT 
(October, 2010) 
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The OPA’s submissions in respect of confidentiality refer to the nine documents 
that it produced on February 6, 2013, and do not refer to the above two 
documents.  The OPA has not to date filed un-redacted versions of the above 
two documents, nor has it made a confidentiality request in respect of them 
specifically.  Board staff submits that it would be appropriate for the OPA to file 
redacted and un-redacted versions of the two documents with the Board, and to 
confirm in its reply submissions due February 20, 2013 whether or not the basis 
for requesting confidential treatment over these two documents is the same as 
for the OPA Claim Documents.  For the purposes of these submissions, Board 
staff assumes that this will be the case. 
 
Board Staff Submission on OPA Claim Documents 
    
The OPA’s submissions on the confidential treatment of the OPA Claim 
Documents are two-fold: first, that the OPA Claim Documents are protected 
under the doctrine of settlement privilege; and second, that the disclosure of the 
OPA Claim Documents would prejudice settlement negotiations between the 
OPA and the Applicants.  
 
In the submission of Board staff, a claim for privilege is distinct and different in 
law from a request for confidentiality.  If a claim for privilege is made out in 
relation to information, then in accordance with the law pertaining to privilege the 
Board does not balance the confidentiality claim against the probative value of 
the information or its importance to the proper and informed determination of the 
proceeding before the court or tribunal.  If the claim is one for confidentiality, then 
that balancing must take place.  Similarly, in a claim for confidentiality, the court 
or tribunal has discretion to fashion a range of orders, including redaction and 
partial disclosure or disclosure subject to a confidentiality undertaking.  If a claim 
for privilege is made out, the only proper order is to refuse disclosure and 
admissibility of the document. 
 
1. Settlement Privilege 
 
Under section 5.4(2) of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act (Ontario) (the 
“SPPA”), the scope of a tribunal’s authority to make orders with respect to 
disclosure does not include the making of an order requiring disclosure of 
privileged information.    
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The Board has confirmed that it has the jurisdiction to hear and determine 
privilege claims.2   Board staff has also noted in a recent proceeding that the 
Board is required to apply common law evidentiary principles in adjudicating 
privilege claims.3   Although the cases at issue involved one or both of solicitor-
client privilege and litigation privilege, Board staff submits that the same 
principles should apply to claims of settlement privilege. 
 
Settlement privilege, where it applies, is a legal rule preventing the disclosure or 
introduction in evidence of communications relating to the settlement of litigation.  
The privilege applies to such communications as a category or class.  As such, 
like other “class” privileges such as solicitor-client and police informer privilege, 
settlement privilege is strictly enforced by the courts, without any case-by-case 
balancing of the probative value or significance of the content of the 
communications, or its importance to the correct adjudication of the proceeding in 
which it is sought to be admitted.  In this regard, Board staff agrees with 
paragraph 14 of the OPA’s February 13, 2013 submissions, and with the 
statement of the law as quoted from the majority of the British Columbia Court of 
Appeal in the Middlekamp case. 
 
Board staff also agrees with the OPA that the rationale for settlement privilege, 
and for its absolute class character, is the very strong public interest in 
encouraging settlement of litigious disputes, as outlined in the cases cited at 
paragraphs 7 to 9 of the OPA’s February 13, 2013 submissions.   However, 
Board staff submits that the same factors also account for the restrictions placed 
by the courts on the scope and duration of this privilege. 
 
There is no disagreement between Board staff and the OPA that the three 
general conditions set out in paragraph 12 of the OPA’s submissions must all be 
met before a claim for settlement privilege is made out in law.   However, Board 
staff submits that the first requirement - that a litigious dispute be in existence or 
in contemplation - involves additional requirements as follows. 
 

                                                 
2 Decision and Order dated June 8, 2011 in a proceeding to determine a motion by the 
Consumers Council of Canada in relation to section 26.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1988 
(EB-2010-0184).  See also the February 22, 2012 Decision and Order in a proceeding on an 
application by Canadian Distributed Antenna Systems Coalition (EB-2011-0120). 
3 Decision and Order dated February 22, 2012, supra. 
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First, there must be a distinct threat of a particular litigious dispute or proceeding 
that is the subject of the settlement negotiations sought to be protected.  The 
courts have imposed this requirement in order to distinguish true “settlement” 
negotiations in a litigious context from the more general and common 
“commercial” negotiations occurring in the ordinary course, where litigation may 
always be said to be a possibility.  A leading case on this requirement, drawing 
the distinction between the settlement of a litigious dispute and commercial 
negotiation, is Blue Line Hockey Acquisition Co. v. Orca Bay Hockey Ltd. 
Partnership, 2007 BCSC 143 (in particular at paragraph 104).     
 
Second, the privilege is normally found to arise in the context of court litigation, 
where a legal claim or cause of action between the negotiating parties is 
involved.  It is at least questionable whether the privilege arises at all in the 
context of a potential application for statutory relief to an administrative tribunal 
such as the Board.  Board Staff notes that, in its Decision and Order dated 
February 22,2012 in proceeding EB-2011-0120,4  the Board determined that the 
Board proceeding in that case was not considered “litigation” for the purposes of 
litigation privilege (although the Board also noted that nothing turned on this 
determination in that case).   
 
Further, in the context of court litigation, the courts normally require the party 
claiming privilege to file evidence, rather than submissions or argument, 
establishing that all of the relevant requirements pertaining to the privilege are 
met.  The onus to prove an exception, referred to in paragraph 16 of the OPA’s 
February 13, 2013 submission, only arises after this has been done.   
 
The OPA’s submissions assert that the redacted documents in this case make 
clear that litigation was within contemplation, referring as an example to a 
redacted document that explicitly refers to “litigation potential”.  However, the 
OPA’s submissions do not identify the nature of the contemplated litigation in 
question (including whether it would be litigation in the courts or before the 
Board), nor do they identify the relationship between the contemplated litigation, 
the negotiations and the information contained in the OPA Claim Documents.   
As reflected in the OPA’s submissions, in order to fall within settlement privilege 

                                                 
4 Supra, note 2. 
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the communication must be made for the purpose of attempting to settle the 
litigation in whole or in part by negotiation and agreement, without adjudication.        
 
As noted in section 2 of the Introduction above, the content of one of the OPA 
Claim Documents has been inadvertently disclosed.  Board staff submits that, if a 
document is privileged as a matter of evidence law, the inadvertent disclosure 
does not operate as a waiver of the privilege.  Where the inadvertent disclosure 
of a privileged document occurs, the courts have nonetheless ordered the return 
of the document and restricted the further disclosure or use of its content.5  The 
same outcome would not necessarily be the case in respect of a claim based on 
confidentiality, as opposed to one based privilege.   
 
The OPA Claim Documents have been shared with third parties (the IESO and/or 
the Ministry of Energy, as applicable).   Board staff submits that the disclosure of 
privileged documents to third parties, when done subject to suitable restrictions, 
does not operate to waive or eliminate the privilege if the test for common 
interest privilege is met.   For common interest to exist, the parties must share a 
common goal, seek a common outcome or have a selfsame interest.  In addition, 
the common interest must be established at the time at which the information at 
issue is provided.6   The concept of common interest could also be applied to a 
claim based on confidentiality. 
 
2. Confidentiality 
 
The OPA’s second argument in respect of the OPA Claim Documents is that the 
Documents should be treated as confidential as their disclosure would prejudice 
settlement negotiations between the OPA and the Applicants.  In this regard, the 
OPA makes reference to Appendix A of the Practice Direction. 
 
Board staff notes first that the following policies or principles are reflected in the 
Practice Direction:  
 

                                                 
5 See Khadr v.Canada, 2008 FC 549, at paragraphs 40-42 and 114-118. 
6 Hubbard, Magotiaux and Duncan, The Law of Privilege in Canada (Canada Law Book), at 
pages 11-57 to 11-58 and pages 12-50.12d to 12-50.19. 
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i.  that proceedings should be open, transparent and accessible, and 
hence that the placing of materials on the public record is the rule and 
confidentiality is the exception;  
 

ii.  that the onus is on the person requesting confidentiality to demonstrate 
to the satisfaction of the Board that confidential treatment is warranted 
in any given case; 

 
iii.  that parties should make every effort to limit the scope of their requests 

for confidentiality to an extent commensurate with the commercial 
sensitivity of the information at issue or with any legislative obligations 
of confidentiality or non-disclosure, and to prepare meaningful 
redacted documents or summaries so as to maximize the information 
that is available on the public record; and 

 
iv.  that the Board, through the application of the Practice Direction, will 

seek to strike a balance between the objectives of transparency and 
openness and the need to protect information that has been properly 
designated as confidential.7 
 

Section 5.1.9 of the Practice Direction notes that some of the factors that the 
Board may consider in determining whether or not a request for confidentiality is 
warranted are listed in Appendix A to the Practice Direction.   As noted by the 
OPA, among the factors identified in Appendix A is “the potential harm that could 
result from the disclosure of the information, including:…(iii) whether the 
information could interfere significantly with negotiations being carried out by a 
party…”.    
 
Board staff notes that the factors listed in Appendix A to the Practice Direction 
are just that – factors to be considered by the Board in making a determination 
on a request for confidentiality.  Board staff therefore submits that, even if the 
disclosure of a document (or of information in a document) could result in the 
harm referred to above, it remains for the Board to determine whether the public 
interest in transparency and openness outweighs the harm that is being alleged 
(or vice versa). 

                                                 
7 Practice Direction, sections 1 and 5. 
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Board staff submits that, to the extent that there is genuine potential harm in the 
disclosure of some or all of the information that has been redacted from the OPA 
Claim Documents, there is merit in according confidential treatment to that 
information, particularly if and to the extent that the information in question is not 
such as to be necessary to enable the parties to present their cases or to permit 
the Board to determine the issues in a proceeding or provide meaningful and 
well-documented reasons for its decision.   
 
Board staff accepts that settlement negotiations may be occurring between the 
OPA and the Applicants in parallel with this proceeding.   The OPA’s 
submissions do not articulate with specificity how harm would ensue from the 
disclosure of the redacted information in the OPA Claim Documents, whether in 
whole or in respect of individual redactions, beyond the assertion that disclosure 
would prejudice negotiations between the OPA and the Applicants.    
 
Based on the redacted documents themselves, it is not possible for Board staff to 
evaluate that assertion in a meaningful way, nor to assist the Board in its 
consideration of whether or not the redacted information appears to be 
necessary to enable the parties to present their cases or to permit the Board to 
determine the issues in this proceeding or provide meaningful and well-
documented reasons for its decision.   In many cases, the nature of the redacted 
information cannot be readily ascertained from the redacted version of the OPA 
Claim Documents.  This is particularly the case where the entirety of a page 
(including the heading or title) has been redacted.  Only in a more limited number 
of cases can the general nature of the information potentially be discerned from 
the un-redacted text. 
 
As noted by the OPA, where a claim for confidentiality has been made, the 
Practice Direction states that the Board may make any of a number of specified 
orders, and may make any other order that the Board finds to be in the public 
interest.8  If the Board determines that confidential treatment is warranted in 
respect of some or all of the redactions in the OPA Claim Documents, Board staff 
submits that the Board may wish to consider whether the OPA could be ordered 
to provide, for the public record, a non-confidential summary of the redacted 

                                                 
8  This is also set out in Rule 10.4 of the Board’s Rules of Practice and Procedure. 
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information.  Board staff further submits that it would be of assistance if the OPA 
were to include submissions on this option in its reply submissions. 
 
Questions of settlement privilege aside, Board staff does not believe that it is 
entirely clear from the OPA’s submissions whether the OPA’s claim for 
confidentiality hinges on the fact that the Applicants’ counsel in this proceeding 
also represents one of the Applicants in their negotiations with the OPA.  In other 
words, it is not clear, at least to Board staff, whether the OPA would object to un-
redacted versions of the OPA Claim Documents being given to counsel that have 
signed a Declaration and Undertaking in this proceeding but for the dual role 
being performed by the Applicants’ counsel.  Board staff submits that, while 
unusual, it would be open to the Board to direct that un-redacted copies of the 
OPA Claim Documents be provided to counsel for all parties from whom the 
Board might accept a Declaration and Undertaking, other than counsel for the 
Applicants.   While Board staff is aware of the information asymmetry that this 
approach would create, it would enable the other parties to have the benefit of 
the redacted information for the purpose of making their respective cases, and 
enable the Board to consider that information in a meaningful way in determining 
the issues in this proceeding.  Board staff submits that it would be highly 
awkward, at best, for the Board to consider confidential information to which no 
parties to this proceeding were given access.      
 
Board Staff Submission on Ministry/OPA Claim Document 
 
The Ministry of Energy’s submissions on the Ministry/OPA Claim Document 
largely makes the same claim to confidentiality based on interference with 
settlement negotiations as that made by the OPA in respect of the OPA Claim 
Documents (and on the Ministry/OPA Claim Document).  The Ministry of Energy 
has submitted that disclosure of the information contained in the Ministry/OPA 
Claim Document has the potential to interfere with the on-going negotiations of 
the OPA with its counterparties, and could therefore be prejudicial to the OPA’s 
interests, and may have broader implications for other entities involved in current 
and sensitive negotiations with the government or its agencies more broadly.  
Board staff’s submissions regarding the application of the Practice Direction in 
the context of a claim pertaining to settlement negotiations are set out above. 
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The Ministry of Energy has, however, identified two other bases for its 
confidentiality claim in respect of the Ministry/OPA Claim Document: 
 
i. the Document comprises advice to government and, in particular, advice 

to executive decision-makers on sensitive and developing policy matters; 
and 

 
ii. disclosure of the Document could undermine the economic or other 

interests of Ontario, in part because negotiations between the OPA and 
various counterparties with vested interests in the outcome of this 
proceeding are ongoing and in part because other strategic positions of 
the government are at play. 

 
Board staff submits that these arguments could be read as advancing a claim for 
“public interest immunity” in respect of the Ministry/OPA Claim Document.   
Public interest immunity has been described as follows: 
 
 Unlike class privileges such as informer privilege and solicitor-client 

privilege…public interest privilege is not an absolute privilege: public 
interest privilege usually involves a weighing of the competing public and 
private interests that warrant secrecy on the one hand and disclosure on 
the other.  Invoking public interest privilege inevitably means that a court 
must resolve the issue whether something should remain confidential by 
balancing the factors for and against disclosure.  The factual and legal 
context in which the weighing process takes place determines the result.  
Not everything that falls within a confidential information category can be 
protected under the Canada Evidence Act or under the common law.  
Simply because the government prefers that documents remain 
confidential is not enough to protect documents or information from 
disclosure… 

 
 Public interest privilege, whether protected under s. 37 [of the Canada 

Evidence Act] or the common law…involves a contextual analysis that 
must be applied on a case-by-case basis.9  

 
The leading case on public interest immunity in Ontario is Carey v. Ontario,10 
which provides a history of the privilege at common law and guidance as to its 

                                                 
9  Hubbard, Magotiaux and Duncan, supra, note 6, at pages 3-2 to 3-3. 
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modern application.  It was applied by the Board in its Decision and Order dated 
June 8, 2011 in proceeding EB-2010-0184.11    
 
In Carey, the Supreme Court of Canada accepted that the public interest in non-
disclosure is not a Crown privilege but a public interest immunity and that, 
therefore, the resolution of the disclosure issue involves a weighing process.   
The Court also noted that “the most usual and appropriate way” to raise the issue 
of the application of public interest immunity is by means of a certificate by the 
affidavit of a Minister or, where a statute permits it or it is otherwise appropriate, 
of a senior public servant.  Even then, however, the opinion of the Minister (or 
public servant) is not conclusive.   
 
The Court in Carey stated as follows: 
 
 Even Cabinet documents must be disclosed unless such disclosure would 

interfere with the public interest.  The fact that such documents concern 
the decision-making at the highest level of government cannot, however, 
be ignored.  Courts must proceed with caution in having them produced.  
But the level of the decision-making process concerned is only one of 
many variables to be taken into account.  The nature of the policy 
concerned and the particular content of the documents are, I would have 
thought, even more important…Revelations of cabinet discussions and 
planning at the development stage or other circumstances when there is 
keen public interest in the subject matter might seriously inhibit the proper 
functioning of cabinet government, but this can scarcely be the case when 
low level policy that has become of little public interest is involved.   

 
 To these considerations, and they are not all, one must, of course, add the 

importance of producing the documents in the interests of the 
administration justice.  On the latter question, such issues as the 
importance of the case and the need or desirability of producing the 
document to ensure that it can be adequately and fairly presented are 
factors to be placed in the balance.  In doing this, it is well to remember 
that only the particular facts relating to the case are revealed…12  

 
Board staff acknowledges that the Ministry of Energy has not, in their 
submissions, specifically identified public interest immunity as a basis for their 
                                                                                                                                                 
10 [1986] 2 S.C.R. 637.   
11 Supra, note 2. 
12 Supra, note 10, at paragraphs 79 and 80. 



Board Staff Submission  February 15, 2013 
EB-2013-0010/EB-2013-0029 
 
 

 14 

confidentiality request.  However, Board staff submits that the analytical 
approach to making a determination on public interest immunity, as described 
above, lends itself well to the determination of the Ministry of Energy’s 
confidentiality claim under the Board’s Rules of Practice and Procedure and the 
Practice Direction. 
 
As noted by the Ministry of Energy, Appendix A of the Practice Direction 
includes, as a factor that may be considered by the Board in determining a 
request for confidential treatment, “any other matters relating to [Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act (“FIPPA”)] or FIPPA exemptions”.    
 
Section 13 of FIPPA allows (but does not require) the head of an institution to 
refuse to disclose a record where the disclosure would “reveal advice or 
recommendations of a public servant, any other person employed in the service 
of an institution or a consultant retained by an institution”.   However, under 
section 23 of FIPPA, an exemption from disclosure of a record under section 13 
(among others) does not apply where a “compelling public interest” in the 
disclosure of the record clearly outweighs the purpose of the exemption.   
Whatever may be the test for determining what constitutes a “compelling public 
interest” under FIPPA, the point that Board staff notes is that FIPPA 
contemplates a balancing between a desire to promote the free flow of advice 
and recommendations within the deliberative process of government, on the one 
hand, and any countervailing public interest in disclosure, on the other.  This is 
recognized by the Ministry of Energy, as appears from the section of its February 
13, 2013 submissions entitled “Balance of Interests”. 
 
The same framework applies to section 18 of FIPPA, on which the Ministry of 
Energy also appears to rely in part.  Section 18, which pertains to records that 
contain information the disclosure of which could reasonably be expected to be 
injurious to the economic and other interests of Ontario, is also a discretionary 
exemption and is also subject to the “compelling public interest” override.    
 
For convenience of reference, sections 13, 18 and 23 of FIPPA are reproduced 
in Appendix B to these submissions.  
 
Board staff submits that, to the extent that the Ministry/OPA Claim Document 
comprises information in the nature of advice or recommendations to the 
government (including the identification and assessment of different available 
options), there is a public interest in according confidential treatment to that 
information.  In Board staff’s view, the same holds true of information the 
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disclosure of which could reasonably be expected to be injurious to the economic 
or other interests of Ontario.  If the Board were to accept this view, the Board 
would then need to consider whether the public interest in non-disclosure is 
outweighed by other factors, including notably the extent to which the information 
in question is considered necessary to enable the parties to present their cases 
or to permit the Board to determine the issues in a proceeding or provide 
meaningful and well-documented reasons for its decision.  The Ministry/OPA 
Claim Document is redacted in its entirety, and Board staff is therefore not in a 
position to provide further assistance to the Board in that respect.     
 
Board staff further submits that the public interest argument in relation to advice 
to government should not extend to information of a factual nature that is 
provided to support the policy decision-making process (such as statistical 
analyses or studies).  With respect to this latter point, Board staff notes that the 
exemption under section 13 of FIPPA specifically does not apply to a record that 
contains factual material; a statistical survey; or a feasibility study or other 
technical study, including a cost estimate, relating to a government policy or 
project.   
 
 
 

All of which is respectfully submitted. 
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Appendix A 
 

Documents Subject to Confidentiality Requests 
 
Documents shaded in grey are documents that appear to have been prepared 
jointly by the IESO and the OPA, whereas the others bear only the OPA’s name. 
 
 

OPA Claim Documents Ministry/OPA Claim Document 

Document No. Title Document No. Title 

IESO0003497 Renewable Dispatch – 
Ministry of Energy 
(October 11, 2011) 

IESO0003910 Managing Surplus 
Generation (May 14, 
2012)  

IESO0003503.1 Renewable Dispatch –
Ministry of Energy 
(October 11, 2011) 

 

IESO0003548 Integration of Renewables 
and Recommendations for 
Dispatch Management – 
Update to Ministry of 
Energy – Confidential 
Advice to Government 
(August 13, 2012)  

IESO0003602 Integration of Renewables: 
RES and FIT – Ministry of 
Energy Update (October 
29, 2010)  

IESO0003687 Integration of Renewables: 
RES and FIT Contracts – 
Ministry of Energy Update 
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OPA Claim Documents Ministry/OPA Claim Document 

Document No. Title Document No. Title 

(November 25, 2010)  

IESO0003786 Potential Surplus Energy:  
A Summary – Briefing 
jointly prepared by IESO 
and OPA – Confidential 
(March 1, 2012) 

IESO0003854 Integration of Renewables 
and Recommendations for 
Dispatch Management – 
Update to Ministry of 
Energy – Confidential 
Advice to Government 
(August 15, 2012) 

IESO0003701 Integration of Renewables: 
RES and FIT Contracts – 
Ministry of Energy Update 
(November 29, 2010)  
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Appendix B 

 
Excerpts from Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act 

(Ontario) 
 

Advice to government 
13.  (1)  A head may refuse to disclose a record where the disclosure would 

reveal advice or recommendations of a public servant, any other person 
employed in the service of an institution or a consultant retained by an institution.  
Exception 

(2)  Despite subsection (1), a head shall not refuse under subsection (1) to 
disclose a record that contains, 

(a) factual material; 
(b) a statistical survey; 
(c) a report by a valuator, whether or not the valuator is an officer of the 

institution; 
(d) an environmental impact statement or similar record; 
(e) a report of a test carried out on a product for the purpose of 

government equipment testing or a consumer test report; 
(f) a report or study on the performance or efficiency of an institution, 

whether the report or study is of a general nature or is in respect of a 
particular program or policy; 

(g) a feasibility study or other technical study, including a cost estimate, 
relating to a government policy or project; 

(h) a report containing the results of field research undertaken before the 
formulation of a policy proposal; 

(i) a final plan or proposal to change a program of an institution, or for the 
establishment of a new program, including a budgetary estimate for 
the program, whether or not the plan or proposal is subject to 
approval, unless the plan or proposal is to be submitted to the 
Executive Council or its committees; 

(j) a report of an interdepartmental committee task force or similar body, or 
of a committee or task force within an institution, which has been 
established for the purpose of preparing a report on a particular topic, 
unless the report is to be submitted to the Executive Council or its 
committees; 

(k) a report of a committee, council or other body which is attached to an 
institution and which has been established for the purpose of 

http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90f31_f.htm#s13s1
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90f31_f.htm#s13s1
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90f31_f.htm#s13s2
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undertaking inquiries and making reports or recommendations to the 
institution; 

(l) the reasons for a final decision, order or ruling of an officer of the 
institution made during or at the conclusion of the exercise of 
discretionary power conferred by or under an enactment or scheme 
administered by the institution, whether or not the enactment or 
scheme allows an appeal to be taken against the decision, order or 
ruling, whether or not the reasons, 

(i) are contained in an internal memorandum of the institution or in a 
letter addressed by an officer or employee of the institution to a 
named person, or 

(ii) were given by the officer who made the decision, order or ruling or 
were incorporated by reference into the decision, order or ruling.  

Idem 
(3)  Despite subsection (1), a head shall not refuse under subsection (1) to 

disclose a record where the record is more than twenty years old or where the 
head has publicly cited the record as the basis for making a decision or 
formulating a policy.  

---------- 
 
Economic and other interests of Ontario 

18.  (1)  A head may refuse to disclose a record that contains, 
(a) trade secrets or financial, commercial, scientific or technical 

information that belongs to the Government of Ontario or an institution 
and has monetary value or potential monetary value; 

(b) information obtained through research by an employee of an institution 
where the disclosure could reasonably be expected to deprive the 
employee of priority of publication; 

(c) information where the disclosure could reasonably be expected to 
prejudice the economic interests of an institution or the competitive 
position of an institution; 

(d) information where the disclosure could reasonably be expected to be 
injurious to the financial interests of the Government of Ontario or the 
ability of the Government of Ontario to manage the economy of 
Ontario; 

(e) positions, plans, procedures, criteria or instructions to be applied to any 
negotiations carried on or to be carried on by or on behalf of an 
institution or the Government of Ontario; 

(f) plans relating to the management of personnel or the administration of 
an institution that have not yet been put into operation or made public; 

http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90f31_f.htm#s13s3
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90f31_f.htm#s18s1
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90f31_f.htm#s18s1
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(g) information including the proposed plans, policies or projects of an 
institution where the disclosure could reasonably be expected to result 
in premature disclosure of a pending policy decision or undue financial 
benefit or loss to a person; 

(h) information relating to specific tests or testing procedures or 
techniques that are to be used for an educational purpose, if 
disclosure could reasonably be expected to prejudice the use or 
results of the tests or testing procedures or techniques; 

(i) submissions in respect of a matter under the Municipal Boundary 
Negotiations Act commenced before its repeal by the Municipal Act, 
2001, by a party municipality or other body before the matter is 
resolved; 

(j) information provided in confidence to, or records prepared with the 
expectation of confidentiality by, a hospital committee to assess or 
evaluate the quality of health care and directly related programs and 
services provided by a hospital, if the assessment or evaluation is for 
the purpose of improving that care and the programs and services.  

Exception 
(2)  A head shall not refuse under subsection (1) to disclose a record that 

contains the results of product or environmental testing carried out by or for an 
institution, unless, 

(a) the testing was done as a service to a person, a group of persons or an 
organization other than an institution and for a fee; or 

(b) the testing was conducted as preliminary or experimental tests for the 
purpose of developing methods of testing.  

---------- 
 
Exemptions not to apply 

23.  An exemption from disclosure of a record under sections 13, 15, 17, 
18, 20, 21 and 21.1 does not apply where a compelling public interest in the 
disclosure of the record clearly outweighs the purpose of the exemption.  
 

http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90f31_f.htm#s18s2
http://www.e-laws.gov.on.ca/html/statutes/french/elaws_statutes_90f31_f.htm#s23
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Appendix C 
 

Authorities Cited 
 
 
 

Blue Line Hockey Acquisition Co. v. Orca Bay Hockey Ltd. Partnership 
 

Carey v. Ontario 
 

Khadr v. Canada 
 
Excerpts from Hubbard, Magotiaux and Duncan, The Law of Privilege in Canada 

 
 
 
 

Please see documents attached. 
 



2007 CarswellBC 208

Blue Line Hockey Acquisition Co. v. Orca Bay Hockey Ltd. Partnership
Blue Line Hockey Acquisition Co., Inc., Northland Properties Corporation, Kery

Ventures Limited Partnership, R. Thomas Gaglardi and Ryan K. Beedie
(Plaintiffs) and Orca Bay Hockey Limited Partnership, Orca Bay Inc., Orca Bay
Arena Limited Partnership, Orca Bay Arena Corp., John E. McCaw, Jr., Sportco
Investments II, Inc., Francesco Aquilini and Aquilini Investments Group, Inc.

(Defendants)
British Columbia Supreme Court

C.A. Wedge J.
Heard: December 6-8, 2006
Judgment: January 31, 2007
Docket: Vancouver S050342

Copyright © Thomson Reuters Canada Limited or its Licensors.

All rights reserved.

Counsel: Murray A. Clemens, Q.C., Stephen R. Schachter, Q.C. for Plaintiffs

William C. Kaplan, Q.C., Peter L. Rubin for Defendants, Orca Bay, John E. McCaw Jr., Sportco

Hein Poulus, Q.C., David R. Brown for Defendants, Aquilini

Subject: Civil Practice and Procedure; Corporate and Commercial; Contracts

Civil practice and procedure --- Discovery -- Examination for discovery -- Range of examination -- Privilege --
Solicitor-client

In November 2004, "A" defendants entered into agreement to purchase from "O" defendants 50 percent interest
in Vancouver Canucks, General Motors Place, and assets relating to both ("enterprise") -- Plaintiffs brought ac-
tion claiming that interest purchased by A defendants belonged to plaintiffs -- Plaintiffs alleged that plaintiffs
and A defendants formed partnership to pursue acquisition of interest in enterprise and agreed they would not
pursue their objective without involvement of all partners -- Plaintiffs alleged that A owed fiduciary duty to oth-
er partners to refrain from diverting opportunities to acquire interest in enterprise to himself and to refrain from
using confidential information of partnership for his own benefit -- Examinations for discovery were held --
Plaintiffs brought motion for answers to questions asked on discovery -- Motion granted in part -- A defendants
were not required to answer whether A sought legal advice regarding whether he could enter into agreement
with O defendants given his previous involvement with partnership, and whether witness at discovery spoke
with counsel regarding absence of documents from data room -- Information sought was protected by solicitor-cli-
ent privilege -- Crime/fraud limitation did not apply to question of whether A sought legal advice regarding en-
tering agreement with O defendants -- A defendants were required to advise plaintiffs when they retained coun-
sel to assist with acquisition of enterprise as this information was not protected by solicitor-client privilege.
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Civil practice and procedure --- Discovery -- Examination for discovery -- Range of examination -- Relevance of
questions

In November 2004, "A" defendants entered into agreement to purchase from "O" defendants 50 percent interest
in Vancouver Canucks, General Motors Place, and assets relating to both ("enterprise") -- Plaintiffs brought ac-
tion claiming that interest purchased by A defendants belonged to plaintiffs -- Plaintiffs alleged that plaintiffs
and A defendants formed partnership to pursue acquisition of interest in enterprise and agreed they would not
pursue their objective without involvement of all partners -- Plaintiffs alleged that A owed fiduciary duty to oth-
er partners to refrain from diverting opportunities to acquire interest in enterprise to himself and to refrain from
using confidential information of partnership for his own benefit -- Examinations for discovery were held --
Plaintiffs and defendants brought motions for answers to questions asked on discovery -- Motions dismissed -- A
defendants did not have to provide their financial records -- Financial records were not relevant, as A had ac-
knowledged there was no change in financial position of defendants -- Defendants did not have to provide docu-
ments regarding terms of employment of M, who negotiated agreement on behalf of A defendants, as plaintiffs
had not alleged that M acted in bad faith or outside scope of his employment -- Plaintiffs did not have to answer
question of what alleged confidential information had been acquired by plaintiffs' representative while acting as
solicitor in other matter involving acquisition of professional football team -- Question did not relate directly to
matter in issue and representative had given detailed evidence regarding information he provided to A.

Civil practice and procedure --- Discovery -- Examination for discovery -- Range of examination -- Opinions --
Of examinee

In November 2004, "A" defendants entered into agreement to purchase from "O" defendants 50 percent interest
in Vancouver Canucks, General Motors Place, and assets relating to both ("enterprise") -- Plaintiffs brought ac-
tion claiming that interest purchased by A defendants belonged to plaintiffs -- Plaintiffs alleged that plaintiffs
and A defendants formed partnership to pursue acquisition of interest in enterprise and agreed they would not
pursue their objective without involvement of all partners -- Plaintiffs alleged that A owed fiduciary duty to oth-
er partners to refrain from diverting opportunities to acquire interest in enterprise to himself and to refrain from
using confidential information of partnership for his own benefit -- Examinations for discovery were held -- De-
fendants brought motions for answers to questions asked on discovery -- Motions dismissed -- Plaintiffs were
not required to answer questions regarding information they alleged defendants acquired from partnership and
used in their acquisition of enterprise -- Plaintiffs were not required to review agreement and identify confiden-
tial information used by defendants to negotiate agreement -- Information sought was opinion evidence --
Plaintiffs were only required to answer questions relating to facts regarding information communicated to A de-
fendants during earlier negotiations.

Civil practice and procedure --- Discovery -- Examination for discovery -- Range of examination -- Privilege --
Miscellaneous privileges

Litigation privilege -- Settlement privilege -- In November 2004, "A" defendants entered into agreement to pur-
chase from "O" defendants 50 percent interest in Vancouver Canucks, General Motors Place, and assets relating
to both ("enterprise") -- Plaintiffs brought action claiming that interest purchased by A defendants belonged to
plaintiffs -- Plaintiffs alleged that plaintiffs and A defendants formed partnership to pursue acquisition of in-
terest in enterprise and agreed they would not pursue their objective without involvement of all partners --
Plaintiffs alleged that A owed fiduciary duty to other partners to refrain from diverting opportunities to acquire
interest in enterprise to himself and to refrain from using confidential information of partnership for his own be-
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nefit -- Examinations for discovery were held -- Defendants brought motions for answers to questions asked on
discovery -- Motions granted in part -- Plaintiffs were required to provide evidence or documentation regarding
compensation paid to representative for his services on behalf of plaintiff in earlier negotiations as such evid-
ence was relevant and not protected by settlement privilege -- Plaintiffs were not required to produce notes pre-
pared by plaintiff regarding his involvement in earlier negotiations, as such notes were prepared for counsel at
time litigation was in contemplation and were therefore protected by litigation privilege.

Civil practice and procedure --- Pleadings -- Application for particulars -- General principles

In November 2004, "A" defendants entered into agreement to purchase from "O" defendants 50 percent interest
in Vancouver Canucks, General Motors Place, and assets relating to both ("enterprise") -- Plaintiffs brought ac-
tion claiming that interest purchased by A defendants belonged to plaintiffs -- Plaintiffs alleged that plaintiffs
and A defendants formed partnership to pursue acquisition of interest in enterprise and agreed they would not
pursue their objective without involvement of all partners -- Plaintiffs alleged that A owed fiduciary duty to oth-
er partners to refrain from diverting opportunities to acquire interest in enterprise to himself and to refrain from
using confidential information of partnership for his own benefit -- Defendants brought motion for particulars --
Motion granted in part -- Plaintiffs were required to provide particulars regarding identities of parties of contract
of partnership alleged in statement of claim, any agency relationships alleged to have existed, confidential in-
formation allegedly conveyed to defendants, circumstances in which confidential information was conveyed to
defendants, and information used by defendants to acquire interest in enterprise -- Plaintiffs were not required to
provide further particulars of alleged close personal and business relationships between parties and families
which resulted in A defendants owing fiduciary duty to plaintiffs -- Plaintiffs were not required to provide
names of A defendants who allegedly carried on secret negotiations with O defendants, or nature and date of ne-
gotiations, as these particulars were best known, and likely only known, by defendants.

Cases considered by C.A. Wedge J.:

Amway Corp. v. Eurway International Ltd. (1973), [1973] F.S.R. 213, [1974] R.P.C. 82 -- referred to

Blank v. Canada (Department of Justice) (2006), 2006 CarswellNat 2704, 2006 CarswellNat 2705, 47
Admin. L.R. (4th) 84, 40 C.R. (6th) 1, 2006 SCC 39, (sub nom. Blank v. Canada (Minister of Justice))
352 N.R. 201, 270 D.L.R. (4th) 280, 51 C.P.R. (4th) 1 (S.C.C.) -- considered

Blue Line Hockey Acquisition Co. v. Orca Bay Hockey Ltd. Partnership (2006), 2006 CarswellBC
2831, 2006 BCSC 1716 (B.C. S.C.) -- referred to

Cadbury Schweppes Inc. v. FBI Foods Ltd. (1999), 235 N.R. 30, 83 C.P.R. (3d) 289, 42 B.L.R. (2d)
159, 117 B.C.A.C. 161, 191 W.A.C. 161, 59 B.C.L.R. (3d) 1, [1999] 5 W.W.R. 751, [1999] 1 S.C.R.
142, [2000] F.S.R. 491, 167 D.L.R. (4th) 577, 1999 CarswellBC 77, 1999 CarswellBC 78 (S.C.C.) -- re-
ferred to

Can-Air Services Ltd. v. British Aviation Insurance Co. (1988), 30 C.P.C. (2d) 1, 1988 CarswellAlta
203, 63 Alta. L.R. (2d) 61, [1989] 1 W.W.R. 750, 91 A.R. 258 (Alta. C.A.) -- considered

Cansulex Ltd. v. Perry (1982), 1982 CarswellBC 836 (B.C. C.A.) -- considered

Carmichael v. Ontario Hydro-Electric Power Commission (1938), [1938] O.W.N. 467, 1938 Carswel-
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lOnt 250, [1938] 4 D.L.R. 781 (Ont. H.C.) -- referred to

Cie Financière du Pacifique v. Peruvian Guano Co. (1882), 11 Q.B.D. 55, 52 L.J.Q.B. 181 (Eng. Q.B.) -
- followed

Coco v. A.N. Clark (Engineers) Ltd. (1968), [1969] R.P.C. 41, [1968] F.S.R. 415 (Eng. Ch. Div.) --
considered

Cytrynbaum v. Gineaut Holdings Ltd. (2006), 2006 BCSC 468, 2006 CarswellBC 860 (B.C. S.C.) --
considered

Forliti (Guardian ad litem of) v. Woolley (2002), 2002 CarswellBC 1493, 2002 BCSC 858, 21 C.P.C.
(5th) 246 (B.C. S.C. [In Chambers]) -- referred to

G.D. Searle & Co. v. Celltech Ltd. (1982), [1982] F.S.R. 92 (Eng. C.A.) -- followed

G.W.L. Properties Ltd. v. W.R. Grace & Co. of Canada Ltd. (1993), 79 B.C.L.R. (2d) 126, 14 C.P.C.
(3d) 97, 1993 CarswellBC 120 (B.C. S.C. [In Chambers]) -- considered

Glegg c. Smith & Nephew inc. (2005), 2005 SCC 31, 2005 CarswellQue 2642, 2005 CarswellQue 2643,
(sub nom. Glegg v. Smith & Nephew Inc.) 253 D.L.R. (4th) 193, [2005] 1 S.C.R. 724, (sub nom. Glegg
v. Smith & Nephew Inc.) 334 N.R. 201 (S.C.C.) -- followed

Global Petroleum Corp. v. CBI Industries Inc. (1998), 172 N.S.R. (2d) 326, 524 A.P.R. 326, 1998
CarswellNS 447, 172 D.L.R. (4th) 689 (N.S. C.A.) -- considered

Goldman, Sachs & Co. v. Sessions (1999), 1999 CarswellBC 2772, 38 C.P.C. (4th) 143 (B.C. S.C.) --
considered

Hamalainen (Committee of) v. Sippola (1991), 1991 CarswellBC 320, 62 B.C.L.R. (2d) 254, 3 C.P.C.
(3d) 297, [1992] 2 W.W.R. 132, (sub nom. Hamalainen v. Sippola) 9 B.C.A.C. 254, (sub nom. Hama-
lainen v. Sippola) 19 W.A.C. 254 (B.C. C.A.) -- considered

Keefer Laundry Ltd. v. Pellerin Milnor Corp. (2006), 59 B.C.L.R. (4th) 264, 2006 BCSC 1180, 2006
CarswellBC 1917 (B.C. S.C.) -- considered

Napier Environmental Technologies Inc. v. Vitomir (2001), 2001 CarswellBC 2961, 2001 BCSC 1704
(B.C. S.C.) -- followed

Northwest Mettech Corp. v. Metcon Services Ltd. (1997), 78 C.P.R. (3d) 86, 1997 CarswellBC 2619
(B.C. S.C. [In Chambers]) -- distinguished

Ontario (Securities Commission) v. Greymac Credit Corp. (1983), 41 O.R. (2d) 328, 21 B.L.R. 37, 33
C.P.C. 270, 146 D.L.R. (3d) 73, 1983 CarswellOnt 127 (Ont. Div. Ct.) -- referred to

Pax Management Ltd. v. A.R. Ristau Trucking Ltd. (1987), (sub nom. Pax Management Ltd. v. Cana-
dian Imperial Bank of Commerce) [1987] 5 W.W.R. 252, (sub nom. Pax Management Ltd. v. Canadian
Imperial Bank of Commerce) 14 B.C.L.R. (2d) 257, 1987 CarswellBC 158 (B.C. C.A.) -- referred to
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Primex Investments Ltd. v. Northwest Sports Enterprises Ltd. (1995), 1995 CarswellBC 958, 13
B.C.L.R. (3d) 300, [1996] 4 W.W.R. 54 (B.C. S.C. [In Chambers]) -- considered

R. v. Cox (1884), 14 Q.B.D. 153, 33 W.R. 396, 15 Cox C.C. 611 (Eng. C.C.R.) -- considered

R. v. Shirose (1999), (sub nom. R. v. Campbell) 237 N.R. 86, 1999 CarswellOnt 948, 1999 CarswellOnt
949, 133 C.C.C. (3d) 257, (sub nom. R. v. Campbell) 42 O.R. (3d) 800 (note), 171 D.L.R. (4th) 193,
(sub nom. R. v. Campbell) 119 O.A.C. 201, (sub nom. R. v. Campbell) 43 O.R. (3d) 256 (note), (sub
nom. R. v. Campbell) [1999] 1 S.C.R. 565, 24 C.R. (5th) 365 (S.C.C.) -- considered

Reid v. British Columbia (Egg Marketing Board) (2006), 2006 CarswellBC 497, 2006 BCSC 346 (B.C.
S.C.) -- referred to

Sinclair v. Roy (1985), 47 R.F.L. (2d) 15, 20 D.L.R. (4th) 748, 1985 CarswellBC 238, 65 B.C.L.R. 219
(B.C. S.C.) -- referred to

State ex rel. North Pacific Lumber Co. v. Unis (1978), 282 Or. 457, 579 P.2d 1291 (U.S. Or.) -- referred
to

Werian Holdings Ltd. v. Prudential Assurance Co. (1995), 1995 CarswellBC 479, 58 B.C.A.C. 283, 96
W.A.C. 283, [1995] I.L.R. 1-3235 (B.C. C.A.) -- referred to

Westinghouse Canada Inc. c. Arkwright Boston Manufacturers Mutual Insurance Co. (1993), [1993]
R.J.Q. 2735 (Que. C.A.) -- referred to

Rules considered:

Rules of Court, 1990, B.C. Reg. 221/90

R. 27(22) -- referred to

MOTIONS by plaintiffs and defendants for answers to questions asked on examinations for discovery and MO-
TION by defendants for particulars.

C.A. Wedge J.:

I. Introduction

Nature of the Applications

1 The parties to this action have brought various pre-trial applications seeking orders for production of docu-
ments and particulars, and answers to questions asked of witnesses on examination for discovery.

Context of the Applications

2 The action concerns the sale of the Vancouver Canucks, General Motors Place and the assets relating to
both (the "Enterprise"). The background to the dispute is contained in earlier reasons for judgment concerning
severance of liability from damages: Blue Line Hockey Acquisition Co. v. Orca Bay Hockey Ltd. Partnership,
2006 BCSC 1716 (B.C. S.C.) .
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3 In November 2004, Francesco Aquilini ("Aquilini") and companies in which he holds interests (collectively
the "Aquilini Defendants") entered into an agreement (the "Investment Agreement") to purchase a 50 per cent
interest in the Enterprise from its then owners (collectively the "Orca Bay Defendants"). Blue Line Hockey Ac-
quisition Co. and its principals, R. Thomas Gaglardi ("Gaglardi") and Ryan K. Beedie ("Beedie") (collectively,
"Blue Line") brought this action claiming that the interest in the Enterprise purchased by the Aquilini Defend-
ants belongs to Blue Line.

Allegations by Blue Line against the Aquilini Defendants

4 Blue Line alleges that Gaglardi, Beedie and Aquilini formed a partnership (the "Partnership") to pursue the
acquisition of an interest in the Enterprise. According to Blue Line, the three partners agreed they would not
pursue their objective without the involvement of all partners. It is alleged that under the Partnership, Aquilini
owed a fiduciary duty to the other partners to refrain from diverting opportunities to acquire an interest in the
Enterprise to himself, and to refrain from using confidential information of the Partnership for his own benefit.

5 The Partnership entered into negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants in November 2003. Blue Line al-
leges that Aquilini left the Partnership some months later and secretly pursued the acquisition of an interest in
the Enterprise with the Orca Bay Defendants. Blue Line says that Aquilini, in the course of his secret negoti-
ations with the Orca Bay Defendants, used confidential information he obtained from the Partnership.

6 Negotiations between Blue Line and the Orca Bay Defendants ended on or about November 5, 2005. On the
same day, some of the Aquilini Defendants entered into the Investment Agreement with some of the Orca Bay
Defendants to acquire a 50 per cent interest in the Enterprise. Blue Line says the Aquilini Defendants, by enter-
ing into the Investment Agreement:

a. acted contrary to the interests of the Partnership;

b. diverted an opportunity for their benefit;

c. used confidential information owned by the Partnership; and

d. obtained information concerning the Enterprise directly from the Orca Bay Defendants and concealed
the information from the Partnership.

7 The Aquilini Defendants deny the existence of the Partnership or any other relationship that could give rise
to fiduciary obligations. They deny having, taking, or using any confidential information, and say Aquilini was
entitled to pursue the acquisition of an interest in the Enterprise to the exclusion of Gaglardi and Beedie.

Allegations by Blue Line against the Orca Bay Defendants

8 Blue Line says its negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants led to the execution in August 2004, of a ne-
gotiating framework document (the "Term Sheet"). The Term Sheet describes certain business terms for the ac-
quisition of the Enterprise. Blue Line alleges that negotiations thereafter proceeded as follows:

• On October 24, 2004, Blue Line advised the Orca Bay Defendants in writing of its position concerning
the outstanding essential terms of the transaction.

• On October 30, 2004, the Orca Bay Defendants made a written offer based on the essential terms ac-
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cepted to date, and their position on the outstanding essential terms.

• On November 2, 2004, Blue Line advised the Orca Bay Defendants of their response to the October 30
offer.

• On November 5, 2004, the Orca Bay Defendants advised Blue Line that the October 30 offer had been
their final offer, and that negotiations were over; Blue Line then sought to accept the October 30 offer,
but were told it was no longer open for acceptance.

• On the same day, the Aquilini Defendants and the Orca Bay Defendants entered into the Investment
Agreement.

9 Blue Line alleges that the Orca Bay Defendants breached their obligations under the Term Sheet by abruptly
ending negotiations and, immediately thereafter, entering into the Investment Agreement with the Aquilini De-
fendants.

10 Further, Blue Line alleges that the Orca Bay Defendants breached their obligation to act in good faith
(implied under the Term Sheet) by entering into parallel negotiations with the Aquilini Defendants, knowing
those defendants were using confidential information obtained by Blue Line in the course of its negotiations
with the Orca Bay Defendants.

11 The Orca Bay Defendants deny entering into parallel negotiations. They say that negotiations with the
Aquilini Defendants commenced after negotiations with Blue Line came to an end. They deny providing the
Aquilini Defendants with confidential information or knowingly assisting the Aquilini Defendants in the alleged
breach of their obligations to Blue Line.

Remedies sought by Blue Line

12 Blue Line seeks to have the sale of the Enterprise to the Aquilini Defendants set aside and an order for spe-
cific performance, compelling the sale of 100 per cent of the Enterprise to Blue Line on the terms offered by
Orca Bay on October 30, 2004, just before ending the negotiations.

13 Alternatively, Blue Line seeks an order that the Aquilini Defendants and the Orca Bay Defendants, or, in
the further alternative, the Aquilini Defendants only, hold their interests in the Enterprise on constructive trust
for Blue Line.

14 In the further alternative, Blue Line seeks accounts on profit or damages against both groups of defend-
ants.

II. The Applications

15 Blue Line applies for the following orders:

1) An order compelling Aquilini to provide, on discovery:

a. the date on which the Aquilini Defendants retained Lyall Knott ("Knott") to assist them in ac-
quiring an interest in the Enterprise;

b. an answer as to whether Aquilini sought legal advice as to whether he could enter into the Invest-
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ment Agreement in light of his previous involvement with the alleged Partnership;

c. the financial records of the Aquilini Defendants as at March 1, 2004, and as at November 1,
2004, to enable the plaintiff to test Aquilini's discovery evidence concerning his reasons for leaving
the Partnership; and

d. answers to questions, and documents, concerning any representations made to the NHL concern-
ing the acquisition of the Enterprise by Aquilini.

2) An order that the Orca Bay Defendants produce all documents dealing with the terms on which they
employed, during the period October 31, 2003, to November 17, 2004, Stan McCammon
("McCammon"), who negotiated with Blue Line on behalf of the Orca Bay Defendants with respect to
the acquisition of the Enterprise.

3) An order compelling McCammon to provide, on discovery, an answer as to whether he spoke with
legal counsel for the Orca Bay Defendants (Joe Weinstein) concerning the absence of relevant docu-
ments from the data room.

16 The Aquilini Defendants apply for the following orders:

1) An order that Blue Line provide further and better particulars as to:

a. the identities of the parties to the contract of Partnership alleged in paragraph 34 of the Amended
Statement of Claim;

b. whether any of the parties to the Partnership were acting as agents for one or more principals,
and if so, who each agent's principals were;

c. the individual items of confidential information obtained by the Partnership which, according to
paragraphs 35 and 45 of the Amended Statement of Claim, the Aquilini Defendants acquired, and
when and from whom each item of confidential information was acquired by the Aquilini Defend-
ants;

d. when, where, and of whom the Aquilini Defendants, according to paragraph 42 of the Amended
Statement of Claim, requested confidential information from other members of the Partnership at
the time the Aquilini Defendants left the Partnership, and what individual items of information
were provided pursuant to such requests;

e. the individual items of confidential information obtained from the Partnership which, according
to paragraph 67(c) of the Amended Statement of Claim, the Aquilini Defendants used when negoti-
ating with the Orca Bay Defendants;

f. the close personal and business relationships between Aquilini, Gaglardi, and their families,
which, according to paragraph 43(a) of the Amended Statement of Claim, resulted in the Aquilini
Defendants owing a fiduciary duty to Gaglardi, Beedie and Blue Line;

g. the identity of any Aquilini Defendants who, according to paragraph 60 of the Amended State-
ment of Claim, carried on secret negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants before and after
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November 5, 2004, and the dates and nature of those negotiations;

h. the nature and dates of the acts of the Orca Bay Defendants which, according to paragraph 65(b)
of the Amended Statement of Claim, amounted to negotiating with the Aquilini Defendants con-
trary to the Orca Bay Defendants' representation to Blue Line that it would not negotiate with the
Aquilini Defendants, and the names of the individuals involved in those negotiations; and

i. the nature and dates of the acts of the Orca Bay Defendants which, according to paragraph 65(d)
of the Amended Statement of Claim, amounted to negotiating with the Aquilini Defendants in
breach of the Orca Bay Defendant's obligation to Blue Line, pursuant to paragraph 12(b)(ii) of the
Term Sheet, to not negotiate with the Aquilini Defendants, at that time, and the names of the indi-
viduals involved in those negotiations.

2) An order requiring Blue Line to disclose correspondence between Ralph McRae ("McRae"), who as-
sisted Blue Line in negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants, and Gaglardi relating to McRae's com-
pensation for his services on behalf of Blue Line.

3) An order compelling Gaglardi to provide, on discovery, the information that Blue Line alleges the
Aquilini Defendants obtained from the Partnership and used in acquiring the Enterprise.

4) An order compelling McRae to provide, on discovery:

a. information he acquired while acting as solicitor on behalf of a client who sought to acquire a
team in the Canadian Football League ("CFL"), including the name of his client, the identity of the
potential vendor of the football team, and the representatives of the vendor that McRae dealt with;

b. an answer to the question of whether he sent a letter to Gaglardi threatening litigation concerning
the compensation dispute;

c. an answer to the question of whether the settlement of the compensation dispute included a term
requiring McRae to give evidence in this proceeding.

5) An order requiring McRae to:

a. prepare and produce an analysis of the Investment Agreement indicating any confidential inform-
ation the Aquilini Defendants obtained from the Partnership; and

b. provide information regarding the transaction between the Aquilini Defendants and the Orca Bay
Defendants which demonstrates that confidential information was exchanged between them on
November 18, 2004.

17 The Orca Bay Defendants seek the following orders with respect to Blue Line:

1. An order that Gaglardi provide, on discovery, information relating to his review of the Investment
Agreement and, specifically, to identify the confidential information he says the Aquilini Defendants
used to negotiate the Investment Agreement.

2. An order that Robert Gaglardi provide, on discovery, information concerning McRae's compensation
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for his role in negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants.

3. An order that Blue Line produce all documents relating to negotiations for, and agreements on, the
compensation McRae would receive for his role in negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants.

4. An order that Blue Line produce the notes prepared by Gaglardi in late November, 2004, describing
his involvement in the negotiations to acquire the Enterprise.

18 I will deal with these applications in turn.

III. Requests by Blue Line

Request 1(a) by Blue Line: An order compelling Aquilini to provide, on discovery, the date on which the
Aquilini Defendants retained Lyall Knott ("Knott") to assist them in acquiring an interest in the Enterprise
[Item 1(c) of Blue Line's Notice of Motion to the Aquilini Defendants, dated November 30, 2006 -- referring
to question 2029 of the examination for discovery of Aquilini].

19 Aquilini's solicitor, Knott, negotiated the Investment Agreement concluded on November 5, 2004. The
timing of Aquilini's entry into negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants is a central issue in the litigation. The
Aquilini Statement of Defence includes the following plea at paragraph 3:

(f) In late October or early November 2004 the attempts of Gaglardi and Beedie to acquire an in-
terest in the Canucks ended in failure;

(g) Upon learning of that failure Aquilini entered into discussions for the acquisition of an interest
in the Canucks, resulting in the transaction that was announced on November 17, 2004;

(h) In connection with the November 2004 negotiations, Orca Bay once again gave Aquilini wide
access to financial and other information about the Canucks [Aquilini had been given access for a
2001 bid].

20 Documents produced by the Orca Bay Defendants suggest that Knott's involvement on behalf of the
Aquilini Defendants was known to the Orca Bay Defendants by November 2, 2004: an entry in McCammon's di-
ary on November 2 states "If doing Francesco deal, include Lyall". On November 3, 2004, counsel for Orca Bay
emailed Knott enclosing a draft agreement for review.

21 Aquilini was asked on discovery by counsel for Blue Line to disclose the date on which the Aquilini De-
fendants retained Knott to negotiate the acquisition of the Enterprise by the Aquilini Defendants. Counsel for the
Aquilini Defendants objected on the basis that the information was protected by solicitor-client privilege.

22 Solicitor-client privilege protects communications between solicitor and client as distinct from evidence of
acts or transactions: Ontario (Securities Commission) v. Greymac Credit Corp. (1983), 41 O.R. (2d) 328 (Ont.
Div. Ct.).

23 Blue Line argues that it seeks facts relating solely to the timing of legal advice, and not the contents of leg-
al advice. Facts, it submits, are not protected by privilege.

24 Affidavit evidence filed in the application indicates that Knott had acted for the Aquilini family for many
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years with respect to numerous transactions. The fact of the retainer concerning this particular transaction has
already been disclosed. The question is the timing of the retainer.

25 The timing of Aquilini's negotiations leading to the Investment Agreement is an important fact in issue.
The date on which Knott was retained may assist in establishing that fact.

26 I am satisfied that the question "When did you retain your solicitor to assist in acquiring an interest in the
Enterprise" will not disclose the contents of any communications between Aquilini and Knot, and is not other-
wise protected from disclosure. Accordingly, Aquilini must provide an answer to that question.

Request 1(b) by Blue Line: An order compelling Aquilini to provide, on discovery, an answer as to whether he
sought legal advice regarding whether he could enter into the Investment Agreement in light of his previous
involvement with the alleged Partnership [Item 1(c) of Blue Line's Notice of Motion to the Aquilini Defend-
ants, dated November 30, 2006 -- referring to question 2208 of the examination for discovery of Aquilini].

27 Counsel for Blue Line asked Aquilini, in the course of his discovery, whether he obtained legal advice as
to whether he could make an offer to purchase an interest in the Enterprise in light of his previous involvement
with Beedie and Gaglardi. Counsel for the Aquilini Defendants objected on the basis that such information was
protected by solicitor-client privilege.

Arguments of counsel

28 The Aquilini Defendants submit that in the event Aquilini answers in the affirmative to the question "Did
you seek legal advice as to whether you could enter into the Investment Agreement?" his answer will disclose, to
some extent, the content of the communications between Aquilini and his solicitor.

29 I accept that an answer to the question, if affirmative, would disclose to some extent the contents of com-
munications between Aquilini and his solicitor. That being the case, the question is impermissible unless an ex-
ception to solicitor-client privilege applies in the circumstances.

30 Blue Line argued that the "crime/fraud exception" applies in this case because the communications are al-
leged to be in furtherance of unlawful conduct on the part of the Aquilini Defendants, that is, breach of fiduciary
duty and breach of confidence.

31 The crime/fraud exception is a limitation on solicitor-client privilege: Goldman, Sachs & Co. v. Sessions
(1999), 38 C.P.C. (4th) 143 (B.C. S.C.) at para. 9 [Goldman Sachs]. A client cannot consult a lawyer for the pur-
pose of obtaining advice about a crime he or she intends to commit and expect the advice to be protected by
privilege. The principle has been extended to civil fraud and is thus known as the "crime/fraud exception".

32 The Court in Goldman Sachs reviewed the case of R. v. Shirose, [1999] 1 S.C.R. 565 (S.C.C.) [Shirose ] in
which the Supreme Court of Canada discussed the requirements that must be established before this limitation
on solicitor-client privilege will apply. In Shirose at para. 57, Binnie J., writing for the Court, noted that the key
issue is the intention of the client who seeks the advice: "[The crime / fraud] exception can only apply where a
client is knowingly pursuing a criminal purpose."

33 Because it is a requirement that the client knows the act on which advice is sought would be unlawful,
"[t]he client must either conspire with his solicitor or deceive him" (Shirose at para. 56 citing R. v. Cox (1884),
14 Q.B.D. 153 (Eng. C.C.R.). In other words, since the client knows the act will be unlawful, the solicitor must
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either conspire in the activity by giving advice, or fail to realize that advice is being sought regarding an unlaw-
ful act.

34 The client's intention is paramount because the law will not discourage clients from seeking legal advice in
good faith regarding transactions which are ultimately found to be unlawful:

The knowledge requirement minimizes the effect of the exception on proper communications; absent
this requirement legitimate consultations would be inhibited by the risk that their subject matter might
turn out to be illegal and therefore unprivileged (Shirose at para. 58 citing "The Future Crime or Tort
Exception to Communications Privileges" (1964), 77 Harv. L. Rev. 730 at 731).

[T]he proponent of the evidence must show that the client, when consulting the attorney, knew or
should have known that the intended conduct was unlawful. Good-faith consultations with attorneys by
clients who are uncertain about the legal implications of a proposed course of action are entitled to the
protection of the privilege, even if that action should later be held improper (State ex rel. North Pacific
Lumber Co. v. Unis, 579 P.2d 1291 (U.S. Or. 1978)).

35 A mere assertion that the solicitor's advice was sought in furtherance of an illegal purpose will not be suf-
ficient. Some evidence of the illegal purpose is required:

[T]here must be more than a mere allegation - there must be "something to give colour to the charge",
that is, "some prima facie evidence that it has some foundation in fact" (Goldman Sachs at para 20 cit-
ing Pax Management Ltd. v. A.R. Ristau Trucking Ltd. (1987), 14 B.C.L.R. (2d) 257 (B.C. C.A.)).

[I]t is not necessary for the court to weigh conflicting evidence and to make findings of fact, ...[but] the
court must examine the applicant's case in the light shed by all of the evidence and the surrounding cir-
cumstances to determine if it "gives colour to the charge " (Goldman Sachs at para 21).

There must be clear and convincing evidence that the solicitor-client communication facilitated the un-
lawful act or that the solicitor otherwise became a dupe or conspirator (Reid v. British Columbia (Egg
Marketing Board), 2006 BCSC 346 (B.C. S.C.) at para. 17).

36 There is no evidence in this case that the Aquilini Defendants sought legal advice for the purpose of com-
mitting an unlawful act. Even if legal advice was sought as to the legality of the Aquilini Defendants' obtaining a
share of the Enterprise for themselves, and the transaction is ultimately found to be unlawful, it is clear from
Shirose that the solicitor-client privilege in relation to the advice sought will not be compromised.

37 Blue Line relies on the decision of this Court in Northwest Mettech Corp. v. Metcon Services Ltd. (1997),
78 C.P.R. (3d) 86 (B.C. S.C. [In Chambers]) [Northwest Mettech], in which it was held that the crime/fraud ex-
ception may apply where the alleged unlawful conduct is breach of fiduciary duty or breach of confidence.

38 In Northwest Mettech, an employee (the first defendant) left his previous employer (the plaintiff) and went
to work for a new employer (the second defendant). The employee allegedly communicated confidential inform-
ation to the new employer's solicitor for the purpose of enabling the solicitor to draft a patent application using
the confidential information. The plaintiff argued that the information was communicated to the solicitor in
breach of confidence. The trial judge agreed, concluding that the communication to the solicitor was the very
communication that amounted to the breach of confidence. On that basis, the trial judge accepted that the crime/
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fraud limitation ought to apply:

.... The communication took place concurrently with the severance of employment with the plaintiff and
the commencement of the employment with the defendants. It was a communication that is at the heart
of the lawsuit. It relates to the plasma torch and axial injection technology which is the subject matter
of the information alleged to have been wrongfully taken....

...I would hold that fairness requires that the plaintiff be entitled to see the communication because the
communication may be the very gravamen of the lawsuit here, and if the plaintiff is precluded from see-
ing it by virtue of the application of solicitor/client privilege, the plaintiff would be precluded, perhaps,
from proving its case

(Northwest Mettech at para. 13)

39 The result in Northwest Mettech is closely tied to the unique facts of the case. Those facts are clearly dis-
tinguishable from the present case. The impugned communication between Aquilini and his solicitor does not
form the basis of the action. Aquilini is not alleged to have committed a breach of confidence in the course of
seeking the legal advice in question.

40 I conclude that the crime/fraud limitation does not apply. Aquilini is not required to disclose whether he
sought legal advice regarding his participation in negotiations concerning the Enterprise.

Request 1(c) by Blue Line: An order compelling Aquilini to provide, on discovery, the financial records of the
Aquilini Defendants as at March 1, 2004, and as at November 1, 2004, to enable the plaintiff to test Aquilini's
discovery evidence concerning his reasons for leaving the Partnership [Item 1(c) of Blue Line's Notice of Mo-
tion to the Aquilini Defendants, dated November 30, 2006 -- referring to questions 2333 (request 41) and 3253
- 3259 of the examination for discovery of Aquilini].

41 Paragraph 39 of the Amended Statement of Claim states as follows:

In or about March 2004, Aquilini advised Gaglardi that he was unable to finance his share of the ac-
quisition of an interest in the Enterprise by the Partnership and ceased to be a partner.

42 That allegation is denied generally in the Amended Statement of Defence, and paragraph 3 states in part as
follows:

(c) In March 2004, Aquilini advised Gaglardi and Beedie that he was no longer interested in parti-
cipating with them in the attempt to acquire 50% of the Canucks;

. . . . .
(e) Such relationship as did exist between Aquilini and Gaglardi and Beedie ended in March 2004.

43 In the course of his examination for discovery, Aquilini was asked about his conversation with Gaglardi in
March 2004, when he advised Gaglardi that he was no longer interested in pursuing an interest in the Enterprise.
Aquilini said he recalled meeting with Gaglardi at a Vancouver restaurant. While he could not recall the specific
details of the conversation, he did recall in general terms expressing the view that the negotiations were "going
nowhere" and, as a result, he was no longer interested in participating. Aquilini recalled telling Gaglardi that if
he liquidated assets to finance the transaction, and the transaction did not occur, he would incur significant tax
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consequences with nothing to show for them.

44 Gaglardi, in his examination for discovery, asserted that Aquilini said, in March 2004, that he was leaving
the Partnership because he was not able to finance the purchase of an interest in the Enterprise at that time.
Aquilini has denied that assertion. Further, Aquilini says that such an assertion would have been untrue, because
his financial circumstances in March 2004 were no different than they were in November 2004 when he entered
into the Investment Agreement.

45 It is common ground that if there was a Partnership, it ended in March 2004, when Aquilini advised Gag-
lardi he was withdrawing from the venture. The only disputed fact is whether Aquilini told Gaglardi and Beedie
that the reason he was no longer interested in pursuing the venture was because he could not finance his share of
the acquisition.

46 Blue Line requested production of the financial statements of the Aquilini Defendants for the months of
March and November 2004. Blue Line seeks the financial records to determine whether the Aquilini Defendants'
financial position changed between March and November 2004, in order to undermine the reason Aquilini al-
legedly gave Gaglardi for leaving the Partnership. However, Aquilini has denied giving such a reason, and ac-
knowledges there was no change in the financial position of the Aquilini Defendants between March and
November 2004. The only question, therefore, is whether Aquilini gave such a reason for leaving the partnership
knowing it was false. The issue is one relating solely to credibility. In the event that Blue Line wishes to rely at
trial on the fact that Aquilini's financial circumstances were the same in March 2004 and as they were in
November 2004, it does not require financial records to prove that fact. Blue Line has Aquilini's admission as
proof of that fact.

47 Accordingly, the Aquilini Defendants are not required to produce the requested financial records.

Request 1(d) by Blue Line: An Order Compelling Aquilini to Provide, on Discovery, Answers to Questions,
and Documents, Concerning Any Representations Made to the NHL Concerning the Acquisition of the Enter-
prise by Aquilini [Item 1(c) of Blue Line's Notice of Motion to the Aquilini Defendants, Dated November 30,
2006 -- Referring to Question 2395 of the Examination for Discovery of Aquilini].

48 Certain information requests listed in the notices of motion were resolved between the parties during the
course of the three days of argument on these applications. After the hearing, the parties jointly provided me
with a letter identifying the outstanding issues to be decided. This issue was listed as an outstanding issue.
However, I have reviewed the written submissions filed by the Aquilini Defendants in response to the Blue Line
applications, as well as my notes of the oral arguments of counsel. It does not appear that any submissions were
made by the Aquilini Defendants concerning this request by Blue Line. I will assume, unless counsel advises
otherwise, that there is no longer any objection to this request.

Request 2 by Blue Line: An order that the Orca Bay Defendants produce all documents dealing with the
terms on which they employed, during the period October 31, 2003, to November 17, 2004, Stan McCammon
("McCammon"), who negotiated with Blue Line on behalf of the Orca Bay Defendants with respect to the ac-
quisition of the Enterprise [Item 4 of Blue Line's Notice of Motion to the Orca Bay Defendants, dated Novem-
ber 30, 2006].

49 McCammon was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Orca Bay Hockey Limited Partnership and
Orca Bay Limited Partnership. He was involved on behalf of Orca Bay in negotiations regarding the sale of the
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Enterprise to Blue Line from October 2003 to the conclusion of the Term Sheet which was executed on August
13, 2004. McCammon also handled the negotiations with Gaglardi following execution of the Term Sheet, in-
cluding the exchanges of proposals in late October and early November, 2004.

50 Blue Line seeks an order for production of any correspondence, agreements, or memoranda disclosing the
terms of McCammon's employment with Orca Bay between October 2003 and November 2004. Blue Line says
the documents are relevant to the issue of whether McCammon had an interest in the outcome of the negoti-
ations for the sale of a 50 per cent interest in the Enterprise to the Aquilini Defendants as distinct from a sale of
the entire Enterprise to Blue Line. As I understand Blue Line's submission, it wishes to determine whether Mc-
Cammon would have retained his position with Orca Bay in the event that only 50 per cent of the Enterprise was
acquired by a third party. If so, he may have favoured the Aquilini bid for a 50 per cent interest and conducted
the negotiations with that in mind.

51 The Orca Bay defendants resist production of these documents on the basis that they are not relevant to the
issues arising from the pleadings.

52 The scope of relevance on discovery is broader than at trial. The following observations are applicable:

It seems to me that every document relates to the matters in question in the action, which not only
would be evidence upon any issue, but also which, it is reasonable to suppose, contains information
which may - not which must - either directly or indirectly enable the party ... either to advance his own
case or to damage the case of his adversary. I have put in the words "either directly or indirectly," be-
cause, as it seems to me, a document can properly be said to contain information which may enable the
party ... either to advance his own case or to damage the case of his adversary, if it is a document which
may fairly lead him to a train of inquiry, which may have either of these two consequences (Cie
Financière du Pacifique v. Peruvian Guano Co. (1882), 11 Q.B.D. 55 (Eng. Q.B.) [Peruvian
Guano]).

And:

In the context of an examination on discovery or a disclosure of evidence that takes place while a case
is being readied for trial, the concept of relevance is interpreted broadly. Being relevant means being
useful for the conduct of an action, as Proulx J.A. noted in a case concerning the disclosure of a written
document: ... "the [party seeking disclosure] must satisfy the court not that the evidence is relevant in
the traditional sense of the word in the context of a trial, but that disclosure of the document will be
useful, is appropriate, is likely to contribute to advancing the debate and is based on an acceptable ob-
jective that he or she seeks to attain in the case, and that the document to be disclosed is related to the
dispute" (Glegg c. Smith & Nephew inc., [2005] 1 S.C.R. 724 (S.C.C.) [Glegg v. Smith & Nephew] cit-
ing Westinghouse Canada Inc. c. Arkwright Boston Manufacturers Mutual Insurance Co., [1993]
R.J.Q. 2735 (Que. C.A.) at 2741.

53 However, relevance must be assessed in the context of the pleadings. In this case, there is no plea by Blue
Line that McCammon acted in bad faith in the negotiations with a view to advancing his own interests. Nor has
Blue Line made any attempt to question McCammon on the issue to lay a proper foundation for this request.

54 If the theory of Blue Line is that McCammon undermined the negotiations because he did not want Blue
Line to succeed in obtaining the entire Enterprise, then McCammon must have been acting against the interests
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of his employer, Orca Bay, at the same time. Were that the case, McCammon would have been acting outside
the scope of his employment.

55 I accept the submissions of the Orca Bay Defendants on this issue. The requested documents could only be
relevant if Blue Line had alleged in its pleadings that McCammon acted in bad faith and outside the scope of his
employment in order to advance his own interests. The pleadings contain no such allegation. The terms of em-
ployment of McCammon are not relevant to the issues in the action as currently disclosed by the pleadings.

Request 3 by Blue Line: An order compelling McCammon to provide, on discovery, an answer as to whether
he spoke with legal counsel for the Orca Bay Defendants (Joe Weinstein) concerning the absence of relevant
documents from the data room [Item 6 of Blue Line's Notice of Motion to the Orca Bay Defendants, dated
November 30, 2006 -- referring to question 1175 of the examination for discovery of McCammon].

56 The Amended Statement of Claim alleges, at paragraph 49, that the exclusivity period stipulated in the
Term Sheet for negotiations between Blue Line and Orca Bay was extended from October 1, 2004, to November
1, 2004, due to the delay by the Orca Bay Defendants in providing certain transaction documents to Blue Line.

57 On discovery, counsel for Blue Line asked McCammon whether he had a discussion with Joe Weinstein,
counsel for the Orca Bay Defendants, about pursuing an email sent by Blue Line's solicitor concerning the ab-
sence of relevant documentation from the data room during the late stages of the negotiations. Counsel for the
Orca Bay Defendants objected to the question on the basis that discussions between McCammon and his legal
counsel are protected by solicitor-client privilege.

58 The Orca Bay Defendants do not object to Blue Line asking McCammon whether, to his knowledge, Wein-
stein called Blue Line's solicitor in response to the email request. However, they say Blue Line wants to ask
questions about McCammon's discussion with Weinstein, which line of inquiry is impermissible.

59 This request raises similar legal issues to those discussed above in relation to request 1(a) by Blue Line. I
agree that the discussion between McCammon and Weinstein, if it occurred at all, is protected by solicitor-client
privilege. As such, McCammon cannot be asked questions about the contents of any such discussions.

IV. Applications of the Aquilini Defendants

60 As the Aquilini Defendants have made numerous requests for particulars, I will review the law regarding
particulars before evaluating those requests.

The law regarding particulars

61 The function of particulars was described in Cansulex Ltd. v. Perry , [1982] B.C.J. No. 369 (B.C. C.A.) at
para. 15 [Cansulex] as follows:

(1) to inform the other side of the nature of the case they have to meet as distinguished from the mode
in which that case is to be proved;

(2) to prevent the other side from being taken by surprise at the trial;

(3) to enable the other side to prepare for trial
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(4) to limit the generality of the pleadings;

(5) to limit and decide the issues to be tried, and as to which discovery is required, and

(6) to tie the hands of the party so that it cannot without leave go into any matters not included.

62 The fact that the particulars sought are known to the party demanding them is not a reason to refuse pro-
duction of the particulars. The demanding party is entitled to know the case it must meet: G.W.L. Properties Ltd.
v. W.R. Grace & Co. of Canada Ltd. (1993), 79 B.C.L.R. (2d) 126 (B.C. S.C. [In Chambers]) at para. 7 [G.W.L.
Properties].

63 In breach of confidence cases, the plaintiff ought to specifically identify the information over which it
claims a proprietary right, and the circumstances in which knowledge of the information came into the posses-
sion of the defendant such that use of the information by the defendant would be unconscionable: see Napier En-
vironmental Technologies Inc. v. Vitomir, 2001 BCSC 1704 (B.C. S.C.) at para. 28 [Napier] citing G.D. Searle
& Co. v. Celltech Ltd., [1982] F.S.R. 92 (Eng. C.A.), at 109 [Searle]. Although Napier and Searle dealt with ex-
employees allegedly using confidential information in the nature of trade secrets, I consider the level of particu-
larity required in those cases to be equally applicable to the circumstances of the present case.

64 With these general principles in mind, I turn to the specific demands for particulars by the Aquilini De-
fendants.

Request 1(a) by the Aquilini Defendants: Further and better particulars as to the identities of the parties to the
contract of Partnership alleged in paragraph 34 of the Amended Statement of Claim [Item 1(e) of Schedule A to
the Aquilini Defendants' Particulars Motion to Blue Line dated December 1, 2006].

65 The Aquilini Defendants say it remains unclear as to precisely which parties are alleged to have been part-
ners in the Partnership. They pose the following question: Are the partners alleged to be Gaglardi, Beedie and
Aquilini, or the corporate entities for whom they acted, or some combination of the foregoing?

66 Blue Line has provided the following response to this request for particulars

Initial response

Tom Gaglardi was the individual representing the interests of Northland Properties Corporation. Ryan
Beedie was the individual representing the interests of Kery Ventures Limited Partnership and other re-
lated companies included in the Beedie Group, and Francesco Aquilini was the individual representing
the interests of the Aquilini Investment Group Inc.

Further response

In respect of Gaglardi, it was intended that the acquisition be made by partnerships which became the
True North plaintiffs and that the units in those partnerships would be held by Northland. In and after
October 2003, Gaglardi acted on behalf of himself and Northland.

In respect of Beedie, it was intended that the acquisition be made by partnerships which became the
True North plaintiffs and that the units in those partnerships would be held by Kery. In and after Octo-
ber 2003, Beedie acted on behalf of himself and Kery.
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In respect of Aquilini, it was intended that the acquisition would be made by partnerships and that the
units in those partnerships would be held by Aquilini Investment Group Inc. or others. In and after Oc-
tober 2003, Aquilini acted on behalf of himself, Aquilini Investment Group Inc. or other affiliates.

(Set out under item 1(d)(ii) of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants Notice of Motion, Tab 16 of the
Joint Chambers Record for the December 6-8, 2006, hearing)

67 Counsel for the Aquilini Defendants submits these responses do not answer the fundamental question
"Who were the partners?"

68 The Amended Statement of Claim alleges the existence of a Partnership. I agree that despite the particulars
already provided by Blue Line, the identity of the individuals and or corporate entities alleged to form the Part-
nership remains unclear. Accordingly, Blue Line must provide particulars as to the identities of the individuals
and/or corporate entities it alleges were the members of the Partnership. If the constituency of the Partnership
changed over time, Blue Line must so indicate.

Request 1(b) by the Aquilini Defendants: Further and better particulars as to whether any of the parties to the
Partnership were acting as agents for one or more principals, and if so, who each agent's principals were [Item
1(d)(ii) of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants' Particulars Motion to Blue Line dated December 1, 2006].

69 This request overlaps with request 1(a) above. Blue Line must particularize any agency relationships al-
leged to exist within the Partnership.

Request 1(c) by the Aquilini Defendants: Further and better particulars as to the individual items of confidential
information obtained by the Partnership which, according to paragraphs 35 and 45 of the Amended Statement of
Claim, the Aquilini Defendants acquired, and when and from whom each item of confidential information was
acquired by the Aquilini Defendants [Item 4 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants' Particulars Motion to
Blue Line dated December 1, 2006].

70 Paragraphs 35 and 45 of the Amended Statement of Claim contain allegations that the Aquilini Defendants
received information from Blue Line and that the information received was confidential. The Aquilini Defend-
ants have requested particulars identifying the specific pieces of information alleged by Blue Line to be confid-
ential information.

71 Blue Line's initial response was that the request would be considered following examinations for discov-
ery. Thereafter, Blue Line provided the following particulars:

Everything that was disclosed by the Plaintiffs to the Aquilini Defendants in connection with the ac-
quisition of the Enterprise, including the Plaintiffs' view or consideration of that information, consti-
tutes Confidential Information as that term is used in the Statement of Claim, and all knowledge and in-
formation obtained by the Aquilini Defendants from the Plaintiffs with respect to the Enterprise consti-
tutes Confidential Information. The demand for the identification of "each individual item of Confiden-
tial Information" is a matter of evidence, not pleadings.

(Set out under item 4 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants Notice of Motion, Tab 16 of the Joint
Chambers Record for the December 6-8, 2006, hearing)

72 In a further response, Blue Line added the following:
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The Aquilini defendants acquired the following confidential information from Orca Bay: its positions in
respect of the draft term sheets and offers exchanged between the parties on or about the following
dates: November 13, 2003, November 28, 2003, January 15, 2004, February 22, 2004, March 15, 2004,
and August 13, 2004. In addition, the Aquilini defendants obtained from Orca Bay the contents of the
negotiations between Orca Bay and Gaglardi and Beedie which took place between July 2004 and
November 4, 2004, and Orca Bay's desire to have Aquilini participate, as a partner, in a purchase with
Gaglardi or Beedie or obtain its own interest in the Enterprise.

The Aquilini defendants obtained from Gaglardi and Beedie and McRae to the end of March, 2004,
their negotiating positions and strategies in respect of the matters reflected in the Term Sheets referred
to above. After March 2004, Gaglardi provided Aquilini with information concerning the contents of
the Term Sheets and the status of negotiations.

(Set out under item 4 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants Notice of Motion, Tab 16 of the Joint
Chambers Record for the December 6-8, 2006, hearing)

73 In response to a separate request by the Aquilini Defendants for particulars of the confidential information
allegedly requested by Aquilini, Blue Line initially provided the following particulars:

Aquilini requested Confidential Information from Gaglardi and Beedie from time to time after he with-
drew from the partnership. The Confidential Information included everything concerning the Vancouver
Canucks discussed between Mr. Aquilini and either Mr. Gaglardi and Beedie including Mr. Gaglardi's
description of the terms set out in the Term Sheet entered into between the Plaintiffs and the Orca Bay
Defendants on August 13, 2003.

(Set out under item 7 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants Notice of Motion, Tab 16 of the Joint
Chambers Record for the December 6-8, 2006, hearing).

74 Blue Line later provided the following further particulars:

Aquilini requested information from Gaglardi in or about April 2004 in respect of the March 15, 2004,
Term Sheet, in May and July with respect to the current status of the negotiations and in August and
September after the Term Sheet dated August 13, 2004. In each case, Gaglardi responded to the request
for information by advising Aquilini as to the status of the negotiations and, in the case of the August
13 Term Sheet, by providing Aquilini with the contents of the business terms contained in it.

(Set out under item 7 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants Notice of Motion, Tab 16 of the Joint
Chambers Record for the December 6-8, 2006, hearing).

75 In response to a request for particulars of the confidential information allegedly used by the Aquilini De-
fendants to acquire an interest in the Enterprise, Blue Line provided the following:

Aquilini used the confidential information received from Orca Bay or from the plaintiffs...particulars of
which are knowledge of the negotiation positions and strategies of the parties in respect of the Term
Sheets from November 2003 to August 13, 2004, knowledge of the negotiating positions of the parties
post August 13, 2004; in particular, the plaintiff's position of October 26, 2004 and the Orca Bay reac-
tion to it.
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(Set out under item 9 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants Notice of Motion, Tab 16 of the Joint
Chambers Record for the December 6-8, 2006, hearing).

76 The Aquilini Defendants say that missing from these responses is anything that would permit them to de-
termine what specific information Blue Line says is confidential information, and, therefore, to assess whether
that information (a) is worthy of protection; (b) was disclosed in circumstances importing confidentiality; and
(c) was actually used by the Aquilini Defendants to conclude the Investment Agreement.

77 The argument of the Aquilini Defendants concerning the nature and scope of the particulars to which it
says it is entitled is based on authorities concerning breach of confidence. In order to succeed in its breach of
confidence claim, Blue Line must establish the following:

(a) The information must be confidential in nature:

(i) It must have been otherwise inaccessible to the Aquilini Defendants: Cadbury Schweppes Inc. v.
FBI Foods Ltd., [1999] 1 S.C.R. 142 (S.C.C.) at para. 62.

(ii) It must have a quality of "originality or novelty or ingenuity": Coco v. A.N. Clark (Engineers)
Ltd. (1968), [1969] R.P.C. 41 at 47 (Ch. D.) [Coco ].

(iii) It must not be in the nature of "know-how": Amway Corp. v. Eurway International Ltd. (1973),
[1974] R.P.C. 82 at 86 (Ch. D.).

(b) Blue Line must have conveyed the confidential information to the Aquilini Defendants in circum-
stances importing confidentiality: Coco at 47.

(c) The Aquilini Defendants must have used the confidential information to the detriment of Blue Line:
Coco at 47.

78 Blue Line says the confidential information is, in essence, the contents of the negotiations as embodied in
the various drafts of the Term Sheet and the strategies of Blue Line in respect of them. Simply put, says Blue
Line, Aquilini "knew the mind of the proposed purchasing group". Thus, argues Blue Line, it is not each indi-
vidual piece of information that is important in this case, but the bargaining positions as a whole and the negoti-
ating strategies behind them. If the offer was confidential, then so were its parts. As such, the plaintiffs are not
required to particularize the constituent parts.

79 By way of response, the Aquilini Defendants say Blue Line has, in effect, invited the Aquilini Defendants
to review all of the material to which Aquilini had access and identify for themselves those aspects alleged to be
confidential and used by the Aquilini Defendants to conclude the Investment Agreement.

80 I accept Blue Line's argument that particularization of the information alleged to be confidential may be
more difficult in this case than in many breach of confidence or "trade secret" cases. Nevertheless, at trial Blue
Line will be required to establish more than simply that Aquilini "knew the mind of the purchasing group". With
respect to its breach of confidence claim, Blue Line will be required to identify the information it says is confid-
ential and establish the proprietary nature of that information. Blue Line will be required to prove facts estab-
lishing that Aquilini received the proprietary information in circumstances requiring that the information remain
confidential, or facts from which such an inference can reasonably be drawn. Blue Line will also be required to
establish facts which prove that the Aquilini Defendants used the information for purposes of concluding the In-
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vestment Agreement, or facts from which that inference can reasonably be drawn.

81 I conclude that Blue Line must identify, by way of particulars, the information it says is confidential in-
formation, the circumstances in which the information was conveyed to the Aquilini Defendants, and the confid-
ential information it says the Aquilini Defendants used to acquire its interest in the Enterprise.

82 By way of example, Blue Line may identify individual pieces of information which it says were confiden-
tial. Or, Blue Line may say an individual piece of information was not itself confidential, but that in combina-
tion with another piece, or other pieces, of information, it was confidential. Whatever the case, Blue Line must
particularize the piece or pieces of information it alleges were confidential, or the combination of those pieces of
information that rendered them confidential.

83 Blue Line has already demonstrated that the allegations concerning breach of confidence are, to some ex-
tent, capable of particularization. For example, it has identified certain concerns of John McCaw ("McCaw"),
Orca Bay's owner, allegedly known only to the members of the Partnership. They include the following: McCaw
was "not keen to sell a portion of the team with an option on the arena"; he was "concerned about governance";
he was "open to vendor financing"; and, he "might be open to providing financing at less than commercial
rates".

84 All aspects of the breach of confidence claim must be amenable to such particularization, and the Aquilini
Defendants are entitled to those particulars before trial.

Request 1(d) by the Aquilini Defendants: Further and better particulars as to when, where, and of whom, the
Aquilini Defendants, according to paragraph 42 of the Amended Statement of Claim, requested confidential in-
formation from other members of the Partnership at the time the Aquilini Defendants left the Partnership, and
what individual items of information were provided pursuant to such requests [Item 7 of Schedule A to the
Aquilini Defendants' Particulars Motion to Blue Line dated December 1, 2006].

85 This request overlaps with request 1(c), with respect to which particulars have been ordered.

Request 1(e) by the Aquilini Defendants: Further and better particulars as to the individual items of confidential
information obtained from the Partnership which, according to paragraph 67(c) of the Amended Statement of
Claim, the Aquilini Defendants used when negotiating with the Orca Bay Defendants [Item 9 of Schedule A to
the Aquilini Defendants' Particulars Motion to Blue Line dated December 1, 2006].

86 The Aquilini Defendants have requested particulars as to the individual items of confidential information
that are alleged to have been used by the Aquilini Defendants to conclude the Investment Agreement. This re-
quest also overlaps with request 1(c). The particulars provided by Blue Line must delineate not only the confid-
ential information allegedly possessed by the Aquilini Defendants, but the confidential information allegedly
used by them to conclude the Investment Agreement.

Request 1(f) by the Aquilini Defendants: Further and better particulars as to the close personal and business re-
lationships between Aquilini, Gaglardi, and their families, which, according to paragraph 43(a) of the Amended
Statement of Claim, resulted in the Aquilini Defendants owing a fiduciary duty to Gaglardi, Beedie and Blue
Line [Item 10 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants' Particulars Motion to Blue Line dated December 1,
2006].

Page 21
2007 BCSC 143, [2007] B.C.W.L.D. 5288, [2007] B.C.W.L.D. 5289, [2007]
B.C.W.L.D. 5286, [2007] B.C.W.L.D. 5287, [2007] B.C.W.L.D. 5292

Copr. © West 2008 No Claim to Orig. Govt. Works



87 It is alleged that Aquilini owed a fiduciary duty to the Partnership, as well as Gaglardi and Beedie indi-
vidually, to not divert any opportunity to acquire an interest in the Enterprise to himself and to not disclose any
confidential information or use it for his own benefit, or otherwise act contrary to the interests of the Partner-
ship. The Aquilini Defendants seek particulars as to the facts and circumstances on which this alleged fiduciary
duty is based.

88 Blue Line has particularized the basis for the alleged fiduciary duty in its Amended Statement of Claim
and in response to earlier demands by the Aquilini Defendants for particulars. Blue Line has advised that the fi-
duciary duty is based on the alleged existence of the Partnership and the obligations alleged to arise from the
Partnership, as well as the close family and business relationships between the Gaglardi and Aquilini families.
The following additional particulars have been provided by Blue Line:

The relationship between the families is a longstanding business relationship which began in the 1980's
when the Aquilini family provided assistance to the Gaglardi family in the Gaglardis' efforts to restruc-
ture Northland Properties. That spawned a close personal relationship between the parents, Luigi and
Robert, which was combined with business transactions. The families were involved and remain in-
volved in the Garabaldi ski development in Squamish which is proposed to be a billion dollar recre-
ational, commercial and residential development.

(Set out under item 10 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants Notice of Motion, Tab 16 of the Joint
Chambers Record for the December 6-8, 2006, hearing)

89 The Aquilini Defendants say that these particulars are deficient, but do not say how they are deficient.
Their submissions focus on the scope of fiduciary duty as a matter of law.

90 Whether the particulars provided by Blue Line will be sufficient to establish a fiduciary duty on the part of
Aquilini is a matter for legal argument. No further particulars are required with respect to this request.

Request 1(g) by the Aquilini Defendants: Further and better particulars as to the identity of any Aquilini De-
fendants who, according to paragraph 60 of the Amended Statement of Claim, carried on secret negotiations
with the Orca Bay Defendants before and after November 5, 2004, and the dates and nature of those negoti-
ations [Item 11 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants' Particulars Motion to Blue Line dated December 1,
2006].

91 The Aquilini Defendants argue that even in circumstances where it is alleged that the particulars sought are
best known to the demanding party, the party advancing the allegations must still provide particulars of the al-
legation.

92 Clearly, in the case of this allegation, the particulars are best known -- and likely only known -- by the
Aquilini Defendants.

93 Blue Line has provided the following response to this demand:

The particulars sought are within the knowledge of the Aquilini defendants and the Orca Bay defend-
ants. Aquilini carried on negotiations with Orca Bay for an interest in the Enterprise from and after
March 2004. In the period between March and July 2004, Aquilini advised Orca Bay, McCammon and
McCaw that he was interested in acquiring such an interest. After July, 2004, McCammon kept Aquilini
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apprised of the negotiations with Gaglardi and Beedie and encouraged Aquilini to make an offer to ac-
quire an interest. Discussions concerning the acquisition by the Aquilini Defendants of an interest in the
Enterprise from Orca Bay continued during October and early November resulting in a November 5,
2004, investment agreement. After November 5, 2004, Aquilini carried on negotiations to conclude an
acquisition of 50% of the Enterprise and thereafter, in 2006, carried on negotiations to conclude an ac-
quisition for the remaining 50% of Orca Bay's interest in the Enterprise.

(Set out under item 11 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants Notice of Motion, Tab 16 of the Joint
Chambers Record for the December 6-8, 2006, hearing)

94 Even bearing in mind the principles in G.W.L. Properties, I am satisfied that Blue Line is not in a position
to provide any further particulars regarding this issue.

Request 1(h) by the Aquilini Defendants: Further and better particulars as to the nature and dates of the acts of
the Orca Bay Defendants which, according to paragraph 65(b) of the Amended Statement of Claim, amounted to
negotiating with the Aquilini Defendants contrary to the Orca Bay Defendants' representation to Blue Line that
it would not negotiate with the Aquilini Defendants, and the names of the individuals involved in those negoti-
ations [Item 13 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants' Particulars Motion to Blue Line dated December 1,
2006].

Request 1(i) by the Aquilini Defendants: Further and better particulars as to the nature and dates of the acts of
the Orca Bay Defendants which, according to paragraph 65(d) of the Amended Statement of Claim, amounted to
negotiating with the Aquilini Defendants in breach of the Orca Bay Defendant's obligation to Blue Line, pursu-
ant to paragraph 12(b)(ii) of the Term Sheet, to not negotiate with the Aquilini Defendants, at that time, and the
names of the individuals involved in those negotiations [Item 14 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants' Par-
ticulars Motion to Blue Line dated December 1, 2006].

95 These requests overlap with request 1(g). Blue Line is not required to provide further particulars concern-
ing these issues.

Request 2 by the Aquilini Defendants: An order requiring Blue Line to disclose correspondence between Ralph
McRae ("McRae"), who assisted Blue Line in negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants, and Gaglardi relating
to McRae's compensation for his services on behalf of Blue Line [Item 1 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defend-
ants' Discovery Motion to Blue Line and Orca Bay, dated December 1, 2006].

96 McRae was retained to assist Blue Line in negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants concerning the ac-
quisition of an interest in the Enterprise. He assisted in the negotiations from November 2003 until after the con-
clusion of the August 13, 2004 Term Sheet. He was responsible for drafting the various versions of the Term
Sheet that lead to the final version signed in August of 2004. Thereafter, McRae did not play a role in the nego-
tiations.

97 At the time the August 13, 2004, Term Sheet was executed, the corporate purchaser identified by the Part-
nership was an entity owned by McRae. It was, at the time, a numbered company; it is now known as Blue Line
Hockey Acquisition Co. Inc. The ownership of the company was transferred by McRae to Gaglardi on January
14, 2005, after Gaglardi and Beedie threatened to commence an action against the Aquilini and Orca Bay De-
fendants.
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98 Both the Aquilini and Orca Bay Defendants seek to compel Gaglardi and his father, Robert Gaglardi, to
answer questions concerning McRae's compensation for the work he performed. They also seek production of all
correspondence between Gaglardi and McRae relating to the issue. I will refer to this evidence collectively as
the "Compensation Evidence."

Does the Compensation Evidence meet the threshold for relevance?

99 Earlier in these reasons I referred to the principles described in Peruvian Guano and Glegg c. Smith &
Nephew inc. concerning the scope of relevance on the discovery of witnesses. Those principles are engaged
here.

100 The Aquilini and Orca Bay Defendants argue that the Compensation Evidence may be relevant to a num-
ber of issues in dispute in the action. A summary of their arguments is as follows:

• the correspondence may contain McRae's review of the events occurring in the months prior to August
2004. It may also contain expressions of the views of either McRae or Gaglardi concerning the state of
the discussions with the Orca Bay Defendants and the prospects of a transaction being completed;

• the Compensation Evidence may disclose evidence of the alleged Partnership: was McRae merely
Gaglardi's agent or an agent of the Partnership, and, if the latter, who did he understand constituted the
Partnership for purposes of compensating him for services rendered;

• services rendered by McRae are alleged to involve confidential information of the Partnership, and
thus his evaluation and review of those services, his description of them, and his valuation of the ser-
vices is relevant to the issues in the action;

• the Compensation Evidence may disclose whether McRae characterized himself as a member of the
Partnership or as a potential equity owner;

• the Compensation Evidence may disclose that McRae was engaged by Gaglardi and the Gaglardi fam-
ily, and not as an agent of Beedie or the Partnership; and

• the answers sought on discovery are relevant to the plea of the Orca Bay Defendants that none of the
plaintiffs had any rights under the Term Sheet.

101 I am satisfied that the Compensation Evidence meets the threshold for relevance on discovery.

Does settlement privilege bar the discovery of the Compensation Evidence?

102 Blue Line resists disclosure on the basis that McRae's compensation was the subject of a dispute such that
all evidence relating to it is protected by settlement privilege.

103 In order to successfully invoke settlement privilege, the party seeking the privilege must establish that a
litigious dispute is in existence or within contemplation, and that the communications in question were for the
purpose of attempting to effect a settlement of the litigious dispute: Sinclair v. Roy (1985), 65 B.C.L.R. 219
(B.C. S.C.), at 222.

104 The mere existence of a dispute or potential dispute does not give rise to the privilege. Only where the
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dispute has become "litigious" does the privilege arise. A dispute is "litigious" where litigation is commenced or
contemplated. The person who claims the privilege bears the onus of establishing it: Cytrynbaum v. Gineaut
Holdings Ltd., 2006 BCSC 468 (B.C. S.C.) at para. 26 [Cytrynbaum ].

105 Any ruling with respect to privilege may be limited to disclosure for purposes of discovery and subject to
further consideration by the trial judge: Cytrynbaum at paras. 11 and 15.

106 The facts concerning the Compensation Evidence are as follows. McRae, a friend of the Gaglardi family,
initially agreed to assist the Partnership on a pro bono basis. He reconsidered his position as negotiations with
Orca Bay wore on and he found himself contributing much more of his time to the transaction than he had ori-
ginally planned. In the course of his discovery, McRae testified that from time to time between December 2003
and August 2004 he raised with Gaglardi the issue of receiving pay for his work, but nothing specific in the way
of compensation was discussed. However, after the Term Sheet was finally signed on August 13, 2004, McRae
decided to take some time to reflect on the issue of fair compensation for the work he had done. He advised
Gaglardi of his intention. Gaglardi asked McRae to visit him to discuss the issue, but McRae told him he wanted
to think about it and put something in writing for Gaglardi to consider.

107 McRae said that on August 20, 2004, after his exchange with Gaglardi, he prepared a memo outlining his
position concerning compensation for his work and emailed it to Gaglardi. Although this was the first time he
had set out the details of his position on the issue, McRae said that he had previously told Gaglardi that he
wanted to be compensated for the work he had done. When asked by counsel for the Aquilini Defendants when
the compensation issue became a dispute, McRae replied that a dispute arose when he delivered the August 20,
2004, memo.

108 McRae's discovery evidence on this issue is as follows:

Q: And what was [Gaglardi's] reaction to that?

A: He urged me not to put it in writing but to come over and talk about it and I said I wanted to put
all the points down so we could have a fulsome discussion about it.

Q: And is that the sum and substance of that discussion with Mr. Gaglardi?

A: I believe so.

Q: Did you have any other discussion with Mr. Gaglardi, before you delivered your memo on this
subject I mean?

A: I don't think so.

Q: You then prepared a memo?

A: Yes.

Q: And delivered it?

A: Yes.

Q: When did you deliver it?
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A: I believe it was August 20, 2004.

(Examination for Discovery of Ralph McRae, May 18, 2006, Q 149-156)

109 McRae was then asked whether, and, if so, when, a dispute arose regarding the compensation issue:

Q: Sir, your counsel has said at a prior discovery that a dispute arose about your remuneration; is
that right?

. . . . .
A: Are you asking me if a dispute arose?

Q: Yes.

A: Yes.

Q: And it arose after you delivered your August 20 memo?

A: It arose when I delivered my August 20 memo.

Q: Did you deliver your August 20 memo in a face-to-face meeting?

A: No.

Q: How did you deliver it?

A: I believe it was via e-mail.

Q: And at the -- that August 20 memo I take it was the first time that you had laid out what you
were looking for and why?

A: It was not -- it was the first time that I had laid out what I was looking for, but not the first time
that I had laid out why.

Q: Well, as to the latter part of your answer I take it that the "why" that you had laid out you have
already fully described for the record?

A: Yes.

Q: And then after you hit the send button on the e-mail that conveyed the August 20 memo to Mr.
Gaglardi you learned that there was a dispute; isn't that right?

A: Yes.

(Examination for Discovery of Ralph McRae, May 19, 2006, Q. 159-166)

110 McRae testified that he retained legal counsel concerning the compensation issue at some point after Au-
gust 20, but on the advice of his counsel in these proceedings refused to say precisely when he retained counsel.
McRae has advised that a settlement was reached within a few months, and that no pleadings were exchanged
before settlement was reached.
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111 In an affidavit sworn on December 4, 2006, McRae deposed to the following:

2. Prior to August 2004, I mentioned to Tom Gaglardi that there would be substantial transaction fees
involved in closing the purchase of an interest in the Enterprise which would include a fee for my work.

3. In August 2004, I offered a compromise position in respect of a fee for my work, expecting that there
would be negotiations to arrive at a fee that was agreeable to all of the parties. I expected that the issue
of my entitlement to a material fee and its quantum would be in dispute between myself and Messrs.
Gaglardi and Beedie, and it was. Negotiations between us ultimately resulted in an agreement which
settled the dispute over my fee.

112 Gaglardi was questioned on discovery about the McRae compensation issue. His evidence was that he
had not promised McRae any compensation prior to receiving the August 20, 2004, memo.

113 Robert Gaglardi was also asked questions on discovery regarding the issue of McRae's compensation:

Q: ...But you are aware that at a certain point in time there were discussions between Tom and Ral-
ph about Ralph's potential compensation for assisting Northland and Beedie in negotiating with
Orca Bay?

A: Yes.

Q: And you're aware that a dispute arose between Tom and Ralph concerning that? Maybe "dis-
pute" is too high?

A: I think so.

Q: That a disagreement arose between the two of them as to what was appropriate?

A: Maybe I'd call it a misunderstanding.

. . . . .
Q: Okay. And am I correct that whatever the misunderstanding was, it became resolved several
months after it arose?

A: Yes.

(Examination for Discovery of Robert Gaglardi, May 29, 2006, Q. 379-384)

114 Whether settlement privilege applies turns on the nature of the dispute apprehended by the parties. Settle-
ment privilege does not attach to the August 20, 2004, memo unless McRae was actually engaged in a litigious
dispute with Gaglardi at the time, or litigation was contemplated at the time. It is only if subsequent discussions
occurred in the context of a litigious dispute that the evidence of those discussions, and documents generated in
the course of those discussions, are subject to the privilege.

115 If, on the other hand, this was simply a commercial dispute as to the basis on which McRae ought to be
paid, settlement privilege does not apply.

116 With respect to the Compensation Evidence generally, and in particular with respect to the August 20,
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2004 memo authored by McRae, there has been no evidence provided by Blue Line as to the following:

• whether the correspondence contained a threat of litigation;

• when McRae retained litigation counsel;

• whether the correspondence was drafted by, or on the advice of, legal counsel, or reviewed by litiga-
tion counsel;

• whether litigation counsel had been retained (by either party) at the time the correspondence was draf-
ted; or

• whether the memorandum includes a proposal with respect to compensation for McRae's involvement
going forward, or only for past involvement.

117 Having reviewed McRae's discovery evidence, I conclude there was no dispute -- much less a litigious
dispute -- at the time McRae forwarded the August 20, 2004 memo to Gaglardi. There had, as yet, been no dis-
cussions about the amount McRae might be seeking for the work he had done. At that stage, Gaglardi was
simply inviting McRae's views regarding the compensation issue. He had, in his words, promised McRae noth-
ing to that point, and it was for McRae to set out the terms he considered to be fair. McRae acknowledged that
the August 20 memo was the first occasion on which he had set out his position concerning compensation for his
work.

118 In the affidavit sworn after his examination for discovery, McRae deposed that he "offered a comprom-
ise" in the August 20 memorandum. That assertion is not supported by any of the discovery evidence, including
McRae's own evidence. No offer had yet been forthcoming from Gaglardi, who, at that stage, had only invited
McRae over to discuss the matter. The August 20 memo was not a compromise; it was McRae's opening posi-
tion. At most, he may have anticipated that Gaglardi would not be happy with the proposal, and that negotiations
would ensue. That anticipation does not amount to a litigious dispute, either actual or contemplated.

119 The August 20, 2004 memorandum is relevant and is not privileged, and so must be produced. Questions
with respect to it must be answered.

120 There has been no evidence advanced by Blue Line to establish that, following the August 20 memor-
andum, a litigious dispute occurred or was contemplated. McRae has stated that he retained litigation counsel,
but has not disclosed when that occurred. For that reason, subsequent discussions and correspondence concern-
ing McRae's compensation are not subject to settlement privilege at this stage of the proceedings. The Aquilini
and Orca Bay Defendants are entitled to examine discovery witnesses with respect to the Compensation Evid-
ence, and any documents relating to the issue must be produced.

121 Blue Line will be at liberty to revisit the admissibility of the evidence at trial.

Request 3 by the Aquilini Defendants: An order compelling Gaglardi to provide, on discovery, the information
that Blue Line alleges the Aquilini Defendants obtained from the Partnership and used in acquiring the Enter-
prise [Item 9 of Schedule A to the Aquilini Defendants' Discovery Motion to Blue Line and Orca Bay, dated
December 1, 2006 -- referring to Question 512 of the examination for discovery of Gaglardi].

122 Counsel for the Aquilini Defendants asked Gaglardi the following questions on discovery:
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Q: Sir, how many agreements do you think you've read in your career?

. . . . .
A: Hundreds, if not thousands.

Q: And do you have a clear picture in your head of the information that you say the Aquilini de-
fendants used in acquiring their interest in the Canucks?

A: Do I have what, sorry?

Q: A clear picture in your head of the information that you say the Aquilini Defendants used in ac-
quiring the Canucks and that originated with you, Mr. Beedie, Mr. McRae or any of the advisors?

Mr. Schachter: Well, you know, I have to object to that as well. You can ask him what was commu-
nicated but what definition it falls within or whether it's contained in a paragraph of that agreement
or not I'm objecting to those. So whether he has a clear picture of what was used or not is not a
question which gets at facts. So ask him a question which is factual and I won't object to it.

(Examination for Discovery of Gaglardi, May 2, 2006, Q. 509-512)

123 Counsel for the Aquilini Defendants declined the invitation to reframe his questions.

124 Counsel for Blue Line submitted there was no objection to the pursuit of this line of inquiry so long as the
questions were properly framed. For example, there would be no objection to the question "What do you say are
the facts?"

125 The line of questioning pursued by counsel for the Aquilini Defendants raises the issue of whether opin-
ion evidence can be elicited from a witness on discovery. It also raises the issue of whether questions designed
to elicit statements of law and trial strategy are permissible.

126 Generally, witnesses are not compellable to give opinion evidence on discovery: Forliti (Guardian ad
litem of) v. Woolley, 2002 BCSC 858 (B.C. S.C. [In Chambers]) at para. 9(c) [Forlitti], Primex Investments Ltd.
v. Northwest Sports Enterprises Ltd. (1995), 13 B.C.L.R. (3d) 300 (B.C. S.C. [In Chambers]) [Northwest
Sports], Can-Air Services Ltd. v. British Aviation Insurance Co. (1988), 63 Alta. L.R. (2d) 61 (Alta. C.A.) [Can-
Air]. Nor can they be compelled to make statements of law or disclose matters of trial strategy (Northwest
Sports; Can Air).

127 In Northwest Sports, K. Smith J. (as he then was) considered whether a corporate officer (representing the
plaintiff) was required to answer questions calling for opinions and statements of law. The questions related to
the value of shares and assets of the plaintiff corporation, and to the conduct of the defendant alleged to be "rep-
rehensible conduct" in connection with the plaintiff's claims for punitive and aggravated damages.

128 Mr. Justice Smith said the following:

[T]he general rule is that a witness cannot be asked for an expert opinion on an examination for discov-
ery...where, by mere coincidence, the witness is qualified to express an opinion of value on a relevant
matter, there is no reason why the party represented by the witness should be bound by the witness's
opinion (Northwest Sports at para. 15).
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To ask a witness on an examination for discovery to stipulate the heads of damages claimed is to ask
him to state the legal elements of the claim he is making, that is, to state matters of law and of trial
strategy. Those matters are for counsel to deal with and, in my view, [the witness] need not answer
[such] question[s]. Of course, [the witness] must answer as to any facts within his knowledge relating to
the claim for damages (Northwest Sports at para. 15).

The word "reprehensible" has legal significance in this context and it would be improper to require [the
witness] to select facts that he considers amount to such conduct and to state them. What conduct will
be advanced as "reprehensible" will depend on [counsel's] view of the available evidence and its proper
characterization in law. Thus, the question asks for an answer involving legal opinion and trial strategy
and need not be answered (Northwest Sports at para. 22).

129 Mr. Justice Smith reiterated the exception to the rule concerning opinion evidence: Opinion evidence may
be sought on the value of property where value is the sole issue in the action. However, he concluded the excep-
tion did not apply in the circumstances (Northwest Sports at para. 15), holding instead that the witness need not
answer questions calling for opinions on the conduct of the directors or whether the alleged conduct amounted to
reprehensible conduct. He held, further, that the witness was not required to describe the plaintiff's heads of
damage.

130 In Can-Air, Cote J.A., writing for the Court, drew the important distinction between questions eliciting a
witness's knowledge of the facts, and questions eliciting arguments or statements of law based on the facts. Cote
J.A. also emphasized that a witness cannot be asked to review facts and to select the key facts upon which he or
she relies:

Many questions here were like this one: "Can you tell sir what facts you rely on to support that allega-
tion" in paragraph 9(a) of the Statement of Defence? ... "On what facts do you rely..." does not ask for
facts which the witness knows or can learn. Nor does it ask for facts which may exist. Instead it makes
the witness choose from some set of facts, discarding those upon which he does not "rely" and naming
only those on which he does "rely". (Can-Air at 62-63)

Because the question demands a selection, it demands a product of the witness' planning. How he is to
select is unclear. He may have to decide what evidence is then available or is legally admissible. The
question really asks how his lawyer will prove the plea. That may well be based on trial strategy. (Can-
Air at 63)

The witness may know that his plea must lean heavily on a certain fact, but not know whether that fact
is true, or can be proven. I see no reason why such a witness should be forced to swear whether he be-
lieves that such a fact exists. (Can-Air at 63)

Another fundamental rule is that an examination for discovery may seek only facts, not law: ... These
questions try to evade that rule by forcing the witness to think of the law applicable or relied upon, then
use it to perform some operation (selecting facts), and then announce the result. The result looks on the
surface like a mere collection of facts, but it really is not... The witness cannot know what facts will
help him in court until he knows the law. So what facts he relies on must be based upon his view of the
law.

Therefore, an examination for discovery may seek facts only, not argument. An astute witness might
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properly answer a question about what facts suggest one of his pleas this way:

"I am not here to make any suggestions at all. I am here only to answer relevant questions. What
the conclusions to be drawn from my answers are is not for me, and as for suggestions, I venture to
leave those to others."

(Can-Air at 63-64)

In my view, the question "upon what facts do you rely for paragraph X of your pleading?" is always im-
proper. (Can-Air at 64).

131 In the present case, the Aquilini Defendants seek to obtain from Gaglardi not only the facts that are with-
in his knowledge, but his opinion (or, more likely, that of his legal counsel) as to what confidential information
found its way into the Investment Agreement. On the authorities I have canvassed, that line of questioning is im-
permissible. Gaglardi was not involved in the creation of the Investment Agreement. Any evidence he could
give would be in the nature of opinions or conclusions of law as to what confidential information found its way
into that agreement. As Cote J.A. so aptly put it, "The question really asks how his lawyer will prove the plea".

132 I conclude that Gaglardi is required to answer only questions seeking facts regarding the information
communicated to Aquilini during Blue Line's negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants. He is not required to
answer questions concerning his view as to the confidential information that found its way in the Investment
Agreement.

Request 4(a) by the Aquilini Defendants: An Order Compelling McRae to Provide, on Discovery, Information
He Acquired While Acting as Solicitor on Behalf of a Client Who Sought to Acquire a Team in the Canadian
Football League ("CFL"), Including the Name of His Client, the Identity of the Potential Vendor of the Football
Team, and the Representatives of the Vendor That McRae Dealt with [Item 1 of Schedule B to the Aquilini De-
fendants' Discovery Motion to Blue Line and Orca Bay, Dated December 1, 2006 -- Referring to Questions 341,
343 and 345 of the Examination for Discovery of McRae].

133 Blue Line has taken the position that the input of McRae in the negotiations was confidential information
provided to Aquilini and misused by him. In his examination for discovery by counsel for the Aquilini Defend-
ants, Gaglardi stated the following:

Q: Okay. And can you tell me, please, sir, what confidential information do you believe that
[Aquilini] utilized that he learned from Mr. McRae?

A: He learned a lot of different things. He learned all of Mr. McRae's experience with the transac-
tion from its -- from Mr. McRae's involvement, which stemmed on or about October '03 1st. He
gained the knowledge of Ralph's advice pertaining to his meetings with various Orca Bay employ-
ees and their KPMG representatives and potentially others. He learned Mr. McRae's views on what
issues in the negotiation were non-starters, which ones were sensitive, and which ones may not be
as sensitive. He learned Mr. McRae's advice as to the best strategies and negotiation tactics to get a
mutually-acceptable deal finalized. He learned the results from Mr. McRae's analysis, financial,
legal, otherwise. He learned Mr. McRae's views on how the enterprise might be governed. I think
I've captured the core of what he would have learned from Mr. McRae.
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(Examination for Discovery of Gaglardi, March 29, 2006, Q. 289)

134 Blue Line asserts that McRae is an experienced negotiator who, as a result of his experience, provided
valuable and confidential information to the Partnership in the course of its negotiations concerning the Enter-
prise. Counsel for the Aquilini Defendants asked questions of McRae on discovery about the extent of his exper-
ience and expertise. Among other things, McRae indicated that he had been involved in negotiations for the pur-
chase of a CFL football team in the early 1990's. McRae said that he represented the purchaser, and that the
transaction did not close. Counsel for the Aquilini Defendants sought further information, but was met with the
objection that his questions would infringe upon Mr. McRae's obligation of confidence to his client. McRae was
then asked whether any of the information he learned from the CFL negotiations was confidential information he
provided Aquilini. His response was "Not information per se", but rather "how a team operated in the context of
a professional sports league" (Examination for Discovery of Ralph McRae, May 19, 2006, Q. 519).

135 McRae went on to describe in some detail his views as to the manner in which teams operate generically
in the context of a professional sports league, and the matters he learned from his experience in attempting to
purchase an interest in the CFL team. Those matters included the following: how revenues of the team are de-
rived; the role of facilities costs in the operation of the team; the level of financing of a sports franchise; and the
marketing opportunities available. McRae was then asked by counsel for the Aquilini Defendants whether his
views on those matters changed as a result of the information provided to him by Orca Bay in the course of ne-
gotiations concerning the Enterprise. McRae's response was as follows:

I don't believe that [information received from the Orca Bay Defendants] changed any views, but they
would have in part supplemented some information that I had, in some cases they would have con-
firmed some information that I would have had, but I don't think my views particularly changed about
anything.

(Examination for Discovery of Ralph McRae, May 19, 2006, Q. 532).

136 Counsel for the Aquilini Defendants now seeks to obtain the following information from McRae:

a) the name of the CFL team McRae's client was interested in buying;

b) the name of McRae's client or, alternatively, the name of the purchaser;

c) the name of the vendor; and

d) the identity of the individuals with whom McRae was instructed to negotiate.

137 Counsel for the Aquilini Defendants argues that the answers to the above questions are relevant for the
following reasons. First, McRae's prior experience involving the attempted purchase of the CFL team informed
his thinking when attempting to acquire the Enterprise, and some of that information may have been given to
Aquilini. Second, the vendor, purchaser, and vendor's representative are potential witnesses who may be able to
establish that McRae was given no information, or that he was given only information that was in the public do-
main or otherwise equally accessible to the Aquilini Defendants. As such, these individuals are persons "who
might reasonably be expected to have knowledge relating to any matter in question in the action" (Rule 27(22)
of Rules of Court, B.C. Reg. 221/90).

138 I have difficulty accepting these arguments. McRae has already described in detail all of the matters that
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he asserts he learned from his involvement in negotiations concerning the CFL team. Whether that information
is confidential information as a matter of law is an issue to be argued at trial.

139 McRae was not asked by counsel for the Aquilini Defendants whether he had provided to Aquilini any of
the information obtained in the course of the CFL negotiations. Moreover, Gaglardi did not make any reference
to McRae's involvement in the CFL transaction when giving evidence on discovery about the information he al-
leged was given by McRae to Aquilini. How the individuals involved in the CFL transaction could provide any
evidence relevant to the alleged breach of confidence by the Aquilini Defendants is not apparent. They could
only say what they told McRae regarding an unrelated transaction. They cannot say what McRae told the
Aquilini Defendants, or what information Aquilini used in negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants.

140 The purpose of canvassing McRae's assertions with the other persons involved in the CFL negotiations
can only be for the purpose of impeaching McRae's credibility. Questions on examination for discovery going to
the credibility of a witness are not appropriate unless they relate directly to a matter in issue. The scope of ques-
tioning on discovery, unlike cross-examination at trial, cannot go to character or credit, or relate solely to cred-
ibility: Werian Holdings Ltd. v. Prudential Assurance Co. (1995), 58 B.C.A.C. 283 (B.C. C.A.) at para 17.

141 McRae has given detailed evidence as to the information he provided to Aquilini. The questions the
Aquilini Defendants seek to ask McRae do not relate directly to a matter in issue, and are impermissible on that
basis.

142 In light of my conclusion on this issue, I have not addressed the question of whether client confidentiality
bars production of the information requested by the Aquilini Defendants.

Request 4(b) by the Aquilini Defendants: An order compelling McRae, to provide, on discovery, an answer to
the question of whether he sent a letter to Gaglardi threatening litigation concerning the compensation dispute
[Item 2(d) of Schedule B to the Aquilini Defendants' Discovery Motion to Blue Line and Orca Bay, dated
December 1, 2006 -- referring to Question 175 of the examination for discovery of McRae].

143 The McRae Compensation Evidence was discussed earlier in relation to request 2 of the Aquilini Defend-
ants (paragraph 102 above). I have ordered that it be produced. If there is correspondence from McRae to Gag-
lardi threatening litigation, it will be among the documents that will be disclosed. Accordingly, an answer on
discovery from McRae is not required.

Request 4(c) by the Aquilini Defendants: An order compelling McRae, to provide, on discovery, an answer to the
question of whether the settlement of the compensation dispute included a term requiring McRae to give evid-
ence in this proceeding [Item 2(e) of Schedule B to the Aquilini Defendants' Discovery Motion to Blue Line and
Orca Bay, dated December 1, 2006 -- referring to Question 178 of the examination for discovery of McRae].

144 McRae is required to advise the Aquilini Defendants as to whether the settlement of the compensation
dispute included such a term.

Request 5(a) by the Aquilini Defendants: An order requiring McRae to prepare and produce an analysis of the
Investment Agreement indicating any confidential information the Aquilini Defendants obtained from the Part-
nership [Item 5 of Schedule B to the Aquilini Defendants' Discovery Motion to Blue Line and Orca Bay, dated
December 1, 2006].
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145 On discovery, counsel for the Aquilini Defendants asked McRae the following questions:

Q: I left you yesterday with a question whether, amongst all of those inaccessible items that you lis-
ted yesterday, if there are any of which you can say that they can be found back in anything that
Mr. Aquilini did?

A: I didn't look.

Q: Let me then just ask not just about this discussion, but generally, that with respect to any in-
formation that you would characterize as inaccessible as we defined that yesterday, you review the
investment agreement and the closing documents and any other documents you need to review in
order to answer the question, whether any of those items of information found their way into the
transaction that Mr. Aquilini ultimately did. Is my question intelligible to you?

A: I understand your question. I don't know if what you ask is possible.

(Examination for Discovery of Ralph McRae, May 19, 2006, Q. 550-551)

146 Later in McRae's discovery he was asked questions about alleged confidential information exchanged at a
meeting of November 18, 2003, that formed the basis for the second draft of the Term Sheet completed by
McRae. McRae identified, to the best of his recollection, the information discussed at the meeting. He was then
asked the following question:

Q: .... Can you point to anything in the transaction that Mr. Aquilini did in which inaccessible in-
formation exchanged on November 18th can be found?

A: I haven't done the analysis.

Q: I ask you to do so.

(Examination for Discovery of Ralph McRae, May 19, 2006, Q. 914)

147 Counsel for Blue Line objected to both lines of inquiry on the basis that McRae was being asked to
provide his opinion, based on his review of all of the documents, as to what confidential information found its
way into the transaction documents and the Investment Agreement.

148 Applying the principles discussed earlier regarding the opinion evidence sought from Gaglardi on discov-
ery (Request 3 of the Aquilini Defendants), I have concluded that the questions asked of McRae are not permiss-
ible. The questions call for a review of the evidence and selection of key facts. They also call for expressions of
opinion, including legal opinion, concerning the evidence (Northwest Sports; Can-Air).

149 McRae has given responsive answers concerning the information he provided Aquilini as a result of
Aquilini's role in the alleged Partnership. It is not for McRae to prepare an analysis of the Investment Agreement
or express his opinion as to whether confidential information was used by Aquilini to conclude that agreement.

Request 5(b) by the Aquilini Defendants: An order requiring McRae to provide information regarding the trans-
action between the Aquilini Defendants and the Orca Bay Defendants which demonstrates that confidential in-
formation was exchanged between them on November 18, 2004 [Item 6 of Schedule B to the Aquilini Defendants'
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Discovery Motion to Blue Line and Orca Bay, dated December 1, 2006].

150 For the reasons given with respect to request 5(a) above, McRae is not required to provide this informa-
tion.

V. Applications of the Orca Bay Defendants

Request 1 by the Orca Bay Defendants: An order that Gaglardi provide, on discovery, information relating to
his review of the Investment Agreement and, specifically, to identify the confidential information he says the
Aquilini Defendants used to negotiate the Investment Agreement [Item 1 of Orca Bay's Notice of Motion to
Blue Line, dated December 1, 2006 -- referring to questions 240-241, 244 and 247 of the examination for dis-
covery of Gaglardi].

151 In the Amended Statement of Claim, it is alleged that the Orca Bay Defendants assisted the Aquilini De-
fendants in the unlawful use of confidential information when concluding the Investment Agreement. The Orca
Bay Defendants have asked Gaglardi on discovery to describe, based on his review of the Investment Agreement
and the transaction documents, the confidential information allegedly used by Aquilini to acquire his interest in
the Enterprise. On the advice of his counsel, Gaglardi refused to respond to the question.

152 Blue Line argues that in order to answer questions dealing with his review of the Investment Agreement,
Gaglardi would be required to disclose the contents of confidential communications he had with his counsel re-
garding the Investment Agreement and reveal matters of trial strategy.

153 The Orca Bay Defendants argue that the Amended Statement of Claim contains the broad allegation that
the defendants unlawfully used confidential information. As such, they say, Gaglardi must identify on discovery
the facts upon which the allegation is based. In other words, Gaglardi must identify those elements of the Invest-
ment Agreement he alleges comprise confidential information taken by Aquilini and used by him to acquire his
interest in the Enterprise. Gaglardi cannot, they say, refuse to answer the discovery questions on grounds of soli-
citor-client privilege.

154 Privilege cannot be used to protect facts from pre-trial disclosure: Carmichael v. Ontario Hydro-Electric
Power Commission, [1938] 4 D.L.R. 781 (Ont. H.C.), Global Petroleum Corp. v. CBI Industries Inc. (1998), 172
D.L.R. (4th) 689 (N.S. C.A.) [Global Petroleum].

155 In Global Petroleum the Nova Scotia Court of Appeal held that privilege cannot be used to protect facts
from pre-trial disclosure if those facts are relied on by a party in support of its case. In that case, counsel put
questions to opposing witnesses in their examinations concerning the information they had about allegations of
fraud, conspiracy to commit fraud, and breach of fiduciary duty. The witnesses refused to answer the questions,
claiming privilege. Citing Wigmore on Evidence, 3rd ed., (1940) vol. 1, p. 3, and Ronald D. Manes and Michael
P. Silver in Solicitor-Client Privilege in Canadian Law (Toronto: Butterworths, 1993) [Manes and Silver], the
Court set out the law as follows at para. 24:

It is beyond dispute that privilege cannot be used to protect facts from disclosure if those facts are re-
lied on by a party in support of its case. It is immaterial that the fact was discovered through the solicit-
or or as a result of the solicitor's direction. If it is relied on it must be disclosed

(emphasis in original).
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156 I accept that Gaglardi must answer questions concerning the confidential information he provided to
Aquilini in their various meetings and discussions. In so doing, he will be testifying to facts within his know-
ledge.

157 However, Gaglardi is not required to answer questions designed to elicit his views as to the confidential
information used by Aquilini to conclude the Investment Agreement. For reasons I have already provided, Gag-
lardi cannot be asked questions designed to elicit his opinion and, more likely, the opinion of his solicitors, con-
cerning the Investment Agreement. Nor can he be asked questions which invite him to review the facts and se-
lect the key facts upon which he relies to prove his claim (Northwest Sports; Can-Air).

158 Identification of the confidential information allegedly used by the Aquilini Defendants to conclude the
Investment Agreement is properly the subject of particulars. The Orca Bay Defendants, like the Aquilini De-
fendants, must be provided with those particulars by Blue Line.

Request 2 by the Orca Bay Defendant: An order that Robert Gaglardi provide, on discovery, information con-
cerning McRae's compensation for his role in negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants [Item 2 of Orca
Bay's Notice of Motion to Blue Line, dated December 1, 2006 - referring to questions 391, 392 and 394 of the
examination for discovery of Robert Gaglardi].

Request 3 by the Orca Bay Defendants: An order that Blue Line produce all documents relating to negoti-
ations for, and agreements on, the compensation McRae would receive for his role in negotiations with the
Orca Bay Defendants [Item 3 of Orca Bay's Notice of Motion to Blue Line, dated December 1, 2006].

159 For the reasons expressed earlier regarding requests 4(a) and 4(b) of the Aquilini Defendants concerning
the McRae's compensation issue, the questions put to the witnesses by counsel for the Orca Bay Defendants
must be answered, and documents relating to the issue must be produced.

Request 4 by the Orca Bay Defendants: An order that Blue Line produce the notes prepared by Gaglardi in
late November, 2004, describing his involvement in the negotiations to acquire the Enterprise [Item 5 of Orca
Bay's Notice of Motion to Blue Line, dated December 1, 2006].

160 In the course of examination for discovery by counsel for the Orca Bay Defendants on October 12, 2006,
Gaglardi acknowledged that he had made detailed notes concerning the events surrounding his efforts to acquire
an interest in the Enterprise (the "Notes"). He was then asked a series of questions about the circumstances in
which he made the Notes, and the purpose for which they were made. There was much debate between legal
counsel as to the appropriate form of the questions to be put to Gaglardi by counsel for the Orca Bay Defendants
concerning the making of the Notes. Counsel for Blue Line took the position that Gaglardi ought to be asked
whether he had made the Notes:

• at the request of counsel;

• independently of counsel but later provided to counsel at his request; or

• because Gaglardi was anticipating that he may commence a lawsuit and wanted to have notes to
provide to counsel.

(Examination for Discovery of Gaglardi, October 12, 2006, Q. 1246-1262)
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161 Counsel for the Orca Bay Defendants ultimately decided he would simply ask Gaglardi why he made the
Notes. The following exchange occurred:

Q: Tell me why you made the notes?

A: I made notes of, later November, made notes of pretty much everything stemming from the very
beginning. I scoured every one of my files for everything and put together a series of notes, really
from the -- really outlining my involvement from the very beginning to the very end. I did this on
my own accord and I wanted to commit it to paper while it was still very fresh in my memory.

(Examination for Discovery of Gaglardi, October 12, 2006, Q. 1246-1262)

162 At the time of his discovery, Gaglardi said he recalled making the Notes after the November 17, 2005,
announcement that the Aquilini Defendants had acquired a 50 per cent interest in the Enterprise. However, Gag-
lardi testified that he did not recall whether he made the Notes before or after meeting with William Berardino,
the lawyer he initially consulted about Aquilini's purchase of the Enterprise. On October 23, 2004, soon after re-
ceiving the electronic transcript of Gaglardi's discovery, counsel for Blue Line sent a letter to counsel for the
Orca Bay Defendants containing the following information: Gaglardi had consulted his diary following the dis-
covery and determined, from his diary entries, that he had met with Mr. Berardino before preparing the Notes.
While he did not prepare the Notes at the request of Mr. Berardino, Gaglardi decided after the meeting that it
would be prudent to prepare comprehensive notes for Mr. Berardino in order to obtain legal advice on the litiga-
tion he and Mr. Beedie were contemplating. On that basis, counsel for Blue Line advised that the Notes were
privileged and would not be produced.

163 Gaglardi subsequently swore an affidavit in which he deposed, in part, to the following:

1. Following my examination for discovery of October 12...I consulted my diary and determined
that those notes were made following my meeting with Bill Berardino, one of the lawyers I consul-
ted with initially in respect of this matter. After my first meeting with Mr. Berardino, I realized that
it would be prudent to prepare comprehensive notes so that I could provide them to counsel in order
to obtain legal advice on the litigation that I and Mr. Beedie wee contemplating. The first draft of
these notes were provided to Mr. Berardino for the purposes of getting advice in respect of this lit-
igation.

2. I had no other reason or purpose for the preparation of these notes other than to provide an or-
ganized statement of the events, as I recalled them, to my counsel.

164 The Orca Bay Defendants request production of the Notes. Blue Line resists production on the basis of
litigation privilege.

The law of litigation privilege

165 The law concerning litigation privilege was recently discussed by Gray J. in Keefer Laundry Ltd. v.
Pellerin Milnor Corp., 2006 BCSC 1180 (B.C. S.C.) at paras. 96-101 [Keefer Laundry]:

Litigation Privilege must be established document by document. To invoke the privilege, counsel must
establish two facts for each document over which the privilege is claimed:
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1. that litigation was ongoing or was reasonably contemplated at the time the document was cre-
ated; and

2. that the dominant purpose of creating the document was to prepare for that litigation.

(Dos Santos (Committee of) v. Sun Life Assurance Co. of Canada (2005), 40 B.C.L.R. (4th) 245, 2005
BCCA 4 at paras. 43-44).

The first requirement will not usually be difficult to meet. Litigation can be said to be reasonably con-
templated when a reasonable person, with the same knowledge of the situation as one or both of the
parties, would find it unlikely that the dispute will be resolved without it. (Hamalainen v. Sippola
(1991), 62 B.C.L.R. (2d) 254, [1992] 2 W.W.R. 132 (C.A.)).

To establish "dominant purpose", the party asserting the privilege will have to present evidence of the
circumstances surrounding the creation of the communication or document in question, including evid-
ence with respect to when it was created, who created it, who authorized it, and what use was or could
be made of it. Care must be taken to limit the extent of the information that is revealed in the process of
establishing "dominant purpose" to avoid accidental or implied waiver of the privilege that is being
claimed.

The focus of the enquiry is on the time and purpose for which the document was created. Whether or
not a document is actually used in ensuing litigation is a matter of strategy and does not affect the docu-
ment's privileged status. A document created for the dominant purpose of litigation remains privileged
throughout that litigation even if it is never used in evidence.

. . . . .
In my view, the preferable practice when asserting a claim of Litigation Privilege over a document is to
provide an affidavit from the creator setting out in the creator's own words the circumstances and pur-
pose of the creation of the document. If it involved preparing for contemplated litigation, the court can
assess the reasonableness of the anticipation of litigation on the basis of all the evidence of the circum-
stances at the time.

(Emphasis added)

166 In Blank v. Canada (Department of Justice), 2006 SCC 39 (S.C.C.) at para. 60, 270 D.L.R. (4th) 280
(S.C.C.), the Supreme Court of Canada confirmed that the dominant purpose test should not be replaced by a
substantial purpose test:

I see no reason to depart from the dominant purpose test. Though it provides narrower protection that
would a substantial purpose test, the dominant purpose standard appears to me consistent with the no-
tion that the litigation privilege should be viewed as a limited exception to the principle of full disclos-
ure and not as an equal partner of the broadly interpreted solicitor-client privilege. The dominant pur-
pose test is more compatible with the contemporary trend favouring increased disclosure.

167 Many of the cases dealing with litigation privilege address the issue of whether the disputed documents
were prepared in the course of an investigation as distinct from being prepared for the purpose of litigation. In
Hamalainen (Committee of) v. Sippola (1991), 62 B.C.L.R. (2d) 254 (B.C. C.A.)at para. 24 (Hamalainen),
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Wood J.A. discussed the issue in the context of motor vehicle accidents:

Even in cases where litigation is in reasonable prospect from the time a claim first arises, there is bound
to be a preliminary period during which the parties are attempting to discover the cause of the accident
on which it is based. At some point in the information gathering process the focus of such an inquiry
will shift such that its dominant purpose will become that of preparing the party for whom it was con-
ducted for the anticipated litigation. In other words, there is a continuum which begins with the incident
giving rise to the claim and during which the focus of the inquiry changes. At what point the dominant
purpose becomes that of furthering the course of litigation will necessarily fall to be determined by the
facts peculiar to each case.

168 Whether counsel has been retained or consulted on the matter is relevant to, but not determinative of,
whether litigation privilege applies.

Arguments of Counsel

169 Blue Line points to the fact that the Notes were made after Gaglardi's first meeting with Mr. Berardino,
and says the purpose Gaglardi had in mind when he created the Notes was to instruct counsel.

170 Counsel for the Orca Bay Defendants submits that Gaglardi's evidence on his discovery makes clear that
the dominant purpose he had in writing the Notes was not to instruct counsel, but to commit to paper certain
facts while they were still fresh in his memory. He did so on his own accord and not at the request of counsel.
The distinction between making notes for his own purposes and making notes at counsel's request or to later in-
struct counsel had been made clear to Gaglardi by the interjections of Blue Line's counsel, said counsel for the
Orca Bay Defendants. Yet when asked why he prepared the Notes, his response was simply that he wanted to re-
cord the facts while they were fresh in his memory. He did not mention that he made the Notes for the purpose
of instructing counsel.

171 Blue Line's response is that counsel for the Orca Bay Defendants, after obtaining Gaglardi's answer that
the Notes were made to record events while his memory was still fresh, ought to have asked the "obvious" next
question: "Why did you want to commit the events to paper while they were still very fresh in your memory?"
Had Gaglardi been asked that question, argues Blue Line, he would have had the opportunity to provide a com-
plete answer as to the purpose for which the Notes were made. Gaglardi subsequently gave the complete answer
in his affidavit. Given the sequence of events, says Blue Line, what other possible purpose could Gaglardi have
had to prepare the Notes than to instruct counsel?

Application of the law

172 I am satisfied that in this case part one of the two part test is met: litigation was reasonably contemplated
at the time the Notes were created.

173 The second issue is whether the dominant purpose for creating the Notes was to prepare for the litigation
that was contemplated. With respect to this issue, I have considered the following matters.

174 Gaglardi's response to the question "Why did you prepare the Notes?" cannot be viewed in isolation. It is
not determinative of the privilege issue. The response indicates that Gaglardi took the question literally: He
made the Notes in order to record events while they were fresh in his mind. Most notes are written for that pur-
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pose. The inquiry does not end there. The next question is why the witness wanted to record events while they
were fresh in his mind. In other words, what was the purpose of recording the events while they could still be re-
membered?

175 This is not a case in which a line must be drawn between notes taken in the course of an investigation and
notes taken in contemplation of litigation. The circumstances of the case did not require investigation. Upon
hearing that Aquilini had acquired an interest in the Enterprise, Gaglardi required legal advice as to his options.
Gaglardi has deposed that he prepared the Notes following a meeting he had with legal counsel to discuss the
legal action he and Beedie were contemplating with respect to Aquilini's purchase of the Enterprise.

176 Gaglardi's assertion in his affidavit that he made the Notes for the purpose of instructing counsel is not
conclusive of the issue. The totality of the circumstances surrounding the creation of the Notes must be con-
sidered (Keefer Laundry). However, I accept the affidavit evidence of Gaglardi that he made the Notes after his
first meeting with Mr. Berardino. That being the case, the question is what possible purpose Gaglardi could have
had in preparing the Notes other than to instruct counsel. Gaglardi's evidence on discovery was that he "scoured"
all of his files to prepare the Notes. It is highly unlikely that he did so in order to create a record of the events
for posterity. It is difficult to draw any other inference from the circumstances than the one Blue Line asks the
court to draw.

177 In the circumstances, I conclude that the only possible purpose for making the Notes was to create a re-
cord of events in order to instruct counsel. The Notes are therefore protected by litigation privilege and need not
be disclosed.

VI. Summary of Conclusions

178 Broadly summarized, my conclusions are as follows.

179 Blue Line must:

• provide further and better particulars as to the identities of the parties to the alleged Partnership;

• provide further and better particulars as to the individual items of confidential information possessed
by Aquilini, as well as the individual items of confidential information used by the Aquilini Defendants
to acquire an interest in the Enterprise;

• disclose the Compensation Evidence (that is, all correspondence relating to McRae's compensation);
and

• disclose whether the settlement of the McRae compensation dispute included a term that McRae give
evidence at the trial of this action.

180 Gaglardi (Blue Line) must answer questions on discovery regarding the information he communicated to
Aquilini during Blue Line's negotiations with the Orca Bay Defendants.

181 Gaglardi (Blue Line) is not required to answer questions concerning the confidential information he be-
lieves was used by Aquilini or found its way into the Investment Agreement.

182 Robert Gaglardi (Blue Line) must answer questions concerning McRae's compensation.
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183 Blue Line is not required to:

• provide further particulars regarding the alleged fiduciary relationships;

• provide further particulars as to the identities of the individuals or parties alleged to have carried on
secret negotiations to acquire the Enterprise;

• provide further particulars as to the nature or dates of the acts alleged to constitute breaches of fidu-
ciary duty by the Orca Bay Defendants;

• provide, through Gaglardi or McRae, analyses of the Investment Agreement and/or transaction docu-
ments;

• produce the Gaglardi Notes; or

• disclose, through McRae, any further information relating to McRae's involvement in negotiations re-
lated to acquisition of a CFL team.

184 The Aquilini Defendants must:

• disclose the date on which they retained Knott in connection with acquisition of the enterprise; and

• answer questions concerning representations they made, if any, to the NHL concerting their acquisi-
tion of the Enterprise.

185 The Aquilini Defendants are not required to:

• disclose whether they sought legal advice as to whether they could enter into the Investment agree-
ment in light of their previous involvement with the alleged Partnership; or

• disclose their financial records for March or December, 2004.

186 The Orca Bay Defendants are not required to:

• provide information on the terms of employment of McCammon; or

• disclose the contents of discussions between McCammon and Joe Weinstein.

Motions granted in part.

END OF DOCUMENT
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REASONS FOR JUDGMENT 
 

INTRODUCTION: 

[1] The United States of America has requested the extradition of Mr. Abdullah Khadr from 

Canada to face criminal charges in relation to acts which he is alleged to have committed in 

Pakistan in support of attacks against coalition forces in Afghanistan.  In these proceedings, Mr. 

Khadr seeks to have certain information in the possession of the Canadian government disclosed to 

him to assist in his defence against the extradition request. The Attorney General of Canada is 

opposed to the release of that information on the ground that it’s disclosure would cause injury to 

Canada’s national security and international relations. 
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[2] This is an application pursuant to paragraph 38.04 (2) (c) of the Canada Evidence Act, 

R.S.C. 1985. c. C-5 (“the Act” or “CEA”). Notice under section 38.02 of the Act has been served on 

the Attorney General by a participant in the extradition case that disclosure of certain information 

could cause injury to the protected interests. The Attorney General has reviewed the information 

and authorized disclosure of some but not all of the information under section 38.03 of the Act. The 

starting point in these proceedings is, therefore, that the statute prohibits release of the undisclosed 

information unless it is authorized by the Court. 

 

[3] The applicant seeks an Order pursuant to subsections 38.06 (1) or 38.06 (2) of the Act 

authorizing disclosure of the information and an Order for his costs. The respondent requests an 

Order confirming the Attorney General’s decisions, or, in the alternative, that the undisclosed 

information be released only in the form of a summary and subject to conditions. 

 

[4] Upon considering the evidence and representations of the parties with the assistance of an 

amicus curiae, the Court will exercise its discretion to authorize disclosure of information relevant 

to the extradition proceedings in the form of a summary and subject to conditions intended to 

minimize any risk of injury to the protected interests. The summary will be released only to counsel 

for the parties and its use restricted to the extradition proceedings. 

 

[5] The Attorney General has been ordered to pay the costs of the participation of the amicus 

curiae on this application. No additional order for costs will be made. 

 

20
08

 F
C

 5
49

 (
C

an
LI

I)



 

 

 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY: 

 

[6] Mr. Khadr, a Canadian citizen, was arrested in Pakistan in mid-October, 2004 and detained 

by Pakistani authorities until his release and repatriation to Canada on December 2, 2005.  He was 

arrested at Toronto on December 17, 2005 on a provisional warrant issued by a Judge of the Ontario 

Superior Court of Justice under the Extradition Act, 1999. c. 18. Mr. Khadr was ordered detained 

following a bail hearing in that court on December 23, 2005 and has remained in custody since then.  

 

[7] Extradition proceedings were formally commenced by the provision of a Request for 

Extradition dated February 9, 2006 from the US Attorney's office in Boston, Massachusetts, where 

the charges against him had been filed, and by an Authorization to Proceed dated March 15, 2006, 

signed on behalf of the Attorney General of Canada. 

 

[8] The allegations against the applicant in the Record of the Case (ROC) and supplementary 

ROC's submitted by the requesting state are, in essence, that he procured munitions and explosive 

components to be used by Al Qaeda militants against US and coalition forces in Afghanistan.  The 

corresponding Canadian crimes identified by the Attorney General in support of the request are 

terrorism, weapons and explosives offenses contrary to several provisions of the Criminal Code of 

Canada, R.S., 1985, c. C-46. 
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[9] As set out in the ROC and supplementary ROC’s, the case against Mr. Khadr rests primarily 

on inculpatory statements taken from the applicant under caution by agents of the Federal Bureau of 

Investigation (FBI) in July 2005 while he was detained in Pakistan and in December 2005 at a hotel 

in Toronto shortly after his repatriation. The US also seeks to rely upon a cautioned statement taken 

by Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP) officers following the applicant’s return to Canada. 

RCMP officers had also interviewed Mr. Khadr in Pakistan in April 2005 but the US is not relying 

upon the statements obtained at that time as part of its case. However, the notes taken by the officers 

during the April 2005 interviews were filed in the applicant’s bail hearing and form part of the 

record of this application. 

 

[10] In August 2006, the applicant filed a motion for disclosure and related relief in the Ontario 

Superior Court of Justice.  Among other things, the applicant requested that the court conduct a voir 

dire to determine the admissibility of the evidence against him and order that the Attorney General 

of Canada produce all documents relevant to the voir dire. The applicant submitted that the 

statements taken from him and proposed for use in the extradition proceedings must be excluded as 

products of torture, cruel and inhumane treatment and illegal detention in Pakistan.  In the 

alternative, the applicant submitted that the circumstances of his detention were such as to render 

the evidence unreliable for the purpose of supporting his extradition from Canada. 
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[11] Counsel for the Attorney General of Canada, acting on behalf of the requesting state, 

conceded that based on Mr.Khadr’s affidavit evidence, there was an "air of reality" to the contention 

that his allegations could be substantiated by evidence in its possession if the request for production 

was satisfied: see United States of America v.  Kwok 2001 SCC 18, [2001] S.C.J. No.19 at 

paragraphs100 and 106; R. v. Larosa, 163 O.A.C. 108, [2002] O.J. No.3219 (O.C.A.) at paragraph 

78. They, therefore, voluntarily undertook to disclose a large number of documents which were in 

the possession of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service (CSIS), the RCMP and the Department 

of Foreign Affairs and International Trade (DFAIT).    

 

[12] In February, March and April 2007, Crown counsel issued four notices to the Attorney 

General under subsection 38.01(1) of the CEA, that certain of the documents which they proposed 

to disclose contained information of a sensitive nature or information which could injure Canada’s 

international relations or national security if released. As required by the statute, the Attorney 

General reviewed the material and made decisions with respect to whether disclosure of the 

information would be authorized or not authorized.  In the result, extensive redactions were made to 

the content of some of the documents disclosed to the applicant. Subsequently, upon receiving 

consent to disclose from the FBI, the originating agency, some of the redactions were removed or 

“lifted” and additional information released in the collection of documents.  

 

[13] In a decision rendered on July 24, 2007, the extradition judge, Justice Christopher M. 

Speyer, ruled that no order for disclosure was required with respect to the material in the possession 
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of Canadian government departments or agencies as those documents had already been disclosed. 

He characterized this production as “voluminous” and noted that counsel for the Attorney General 

had agreed to provide any further material that may come to their attention. Justice Speyer declined 

to make any order for production against the requesting state.  However, he accepted that the 

applicant's claims of abusive treatment during his detention in Pakistan were sufficient to provide 

for a realistic possibility that the remedy sought - exclusion of the inculpatory statements - could be 

achieved: United States of America v. Khadr [2007] O.J. No.3140 (S.C.J.). 

 

[14] Justice Speyer noted that it was beyond the scope of his authority to determine whether the 

circumstances of the extradition proceeding required the production of unredacted copies of the 

material disclosed by the Canadian authorities as that jurisdiction is assigned to the Federal Court 

under section 38 of the CEA. On July 26, 2007 he adjourned the extradition proceeding so that an 

application could be brought under section 38. That application was filed in this Court on August 

21, 2007 and was then case-managed by the Chief Justice until a complete record was submitted by 

the parties.  

 

[15] The applicant filed affidavit evidence with extensive exhibits on September 20, 2007, 

including the content of the disclosure motion before the Ontario Superior Court. The bulk of the 

documents at issue in these proceedings were filed with the Court by the Attorney General in 

November, 2007, in both redacted and unredacted form, together with affidavit evidence in 

opposition to the application. These consisted of some 266 documents comprising approximately 

1300 pages.   
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[16] Counsel for the applicant brought a motion for the appointment of amicus curiae on 

November 15, 2007. I was assigned the matter at this time. There was some initial delay in 

proceeding due to other matters requiring the involvement of  counsel. Written submissions were 

filed and oral argument with respect to the motion was heard on December 20, 2007.  In a decision 

released on January 15, 2008 I granted the motion and appointed Mr. Leonard Shore Q.C., of 

Ottawa as amicus to assist the court by representing the interests of the applicant during the ex parte 

hearings required by the statute: Abdullah Khadr v. The Attorney General of Canada 2008 FC 46, 

[2008] F.C.J. No.47.   

 

[17] In response to a fifth notice served upon the Attorney General by counsel engaged in the 

extradition proceedings, the respondent filed supplementary ex parte affidavits with an additional 36 

documents on January 29, 2008. This material was also served on the applicant in redacted form. 

 

[18] During this process, counsel for the Attorney General identified additional sensitive or 

potentially injurious information which was said to have been inadvertently disclosed to the 

applicant. This information was initially contained in some 120 of the documents. That number was 

reduced on consent of the originator and through decisions of the Attorney General to authorize 

disclosure. In the result, there were 47 items of information in 41 documents, including several that 

were in the initial collection, for which the Attorney General sought an Order prohibiting further 

disclosure. For convenient reference, the pages of these documents containing the inadvertently 

disclosed information were assembled in one binder filed at a hearing on February 11, 2008. 

Redacted versions of these pages were also provided to counsel for the applicant. Counsel for the 

applicant continue to hold the original unredacted versions of this information as it was provided by 
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the Crown in the disclosure process, save for the item referred to in the next paragraph which they 

destroyed when informed that it was potentially injurious and had been unintentionally released. 

 

[19] The document containing that item of information had already been given to a reporter for 

The Globe and Mail newspaper when counsel were made aware of its sensitivity. The information is 

set out in a portion of a sentence in an October 2004 briefing note to the Commissioner of the 

RCMP.  Upon being contacted by counsel for the Attorney General, the newspaper withheld 

publication of the information pending the outcome of these proceedings.  

 

[20] Closed and public hearings were conducted on February 21-22, 2008 in this matter. The 

private hearings were held for two purposes. The first was to receive representations from both 

parties and from counsel for The Globe and Mail with respect to the information which the Attorney 

General contends was inadvertently released during the disclosure process and which the Attorney 

General now seeks to protect through these proceedings.  

 

[21] Counsel for the Attorney General was authorized to provide notice of the private hearings to 

The Globe and Mail. A lawyer for the newspaper appeared at the hearing on February 21st, filed a 

record in opposition to the Attorney General’s request and made submissions concerning the 

information in the October 2004 briefing note. Counsel for the newspaper did not participate in the 

remainder of the hearings. 
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[22] The second purpose of the closed hearings was to provide the applicant with an opportunity 

to assist the Court with submissions as to the kind of information that would be useful to the defence 

in the extradition case. An ex parte hearing for this purpose is contemplated by the CEA in section 

38.11. Counsel for the applicant, however, elected to have the respondent’s counsel remain during 

these submissions on the understanding that any defence strategies or privileged information 

revealed would not be disclosed to the lawyers acting on behalf of the requesting state in the 

extradition case. While this was an exceptional procedure, not expressly provided for in the statute, 

it greatly assisted the Court during the subsequent ex parte hearings as the Court could candidly 

discuss questions of relevance with counsel for the Attorney General and the amicus without fear of 

disclosing information received in confidence from the applicant’s lawyers.  

 

[23]  At the conclusion of the private hearings on February 22nd, the Court adjourned and 

resumed in a public session to hear the submissions of the parties with respect to the merits of the 

disclosure application in open court.  

 

[24] A series of private ex parte hearings were conducted at the Court’s secure facility in which 

witnesses from each of the departments and agencies in possession of the information at issue were 

examined by counsel for the Attorney General and cross-examined by the amicus curiae. Mr. Shore 

had previously been given access to all of the ex parte affidavit evidence filed by the Attorney 

General and was present for each of the private hearings.  The redacted information was reviewed in 

this process and evidence and submissions received as to its relevance to the underlying extradition 

case and whether injury to the protected national interests would result as asserted by the Attorney 

General if it were to be disclosed. 
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[25] Following these hearings, at the request of the Court, counsel for the Attorney General and 

the amicus curiae reviewed the redacted information and allegedly inadvertent disclosures and 

prepared a list of the information which they, either jointly or individually, believed to meet the 

threshold test of relevance.  The Court then heard further submissions in closed sessions from the 

Attorney General and the amicus curiae with respect to issues arising from this collection of 

information. 

 

LEGAL FRAMEWORK: 

 

[26] The appropriate test to apply in a proceeding under section 36.04 of the Act was developed 

by the Federal Court and the Federal Court of Appeal in Canada (Attorney General) v. Ribic, 2003 

FCT 10, [2003] F.C.J. No. 1965, aff’d 2003 FCA 246, [2003] F.C.J. No. 1964 (Ribic); see also 

Canada (Attorney General) v. Khawaja, 2007 FC 490, [2007] F.C.J. No. 622 (Khawaja I); rev’d in 

part but not on the test in Canada (Attorney General) v. Khawaja, 2007 FCA 342, [2007] F.C.J. No. 

1473: Canada (Attorney General) v. Canada (Commission of Inquiry into the Actions of Canadian 

Officials in Relation to Maher Arar) 2007 FC 766, [2007] F.C.J. No. 1081 (Arar).  

 

[27] A section 38.04 application is not a judicial review of the Attorney General’s decision not to 

authorize disclosure.  Instead, the designated judge must make a determination as to whether the 

statutory ban on releasing the information sought to be protected, as outlined in subsection 38.02(1), 

ought to be confirmed or not.  In coming to that decision, the judge must assess the information in 

three steps. 
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[28] First, the judge must decide whether the information sought to be protected is relevant to the 

underlying proceeding. That threshold, as determined by the Federal Court of Appeal in Ribic, at 

paragraph 17, is a low one. In the criminal context, this is determined through application of the 

Stinchcombe test for disclosure: R. v. Stinchcombe, [1991] 3 S.C.R. 326, [1991] S.C.J. No. 83.  If 

the information at issue may not be reasonably useful to the defence, it is not relevant and there is 

no need to go any further in assessing it.  

 

[29] The extradition process is not equivalent to a criminal trial: see Kindler v. Canada (Minister 

of Justice) [1991] 2 S.C.R. 779, [1991] S.C.J. No. 63. As stated in Kindler at paragraph 160, “… it 

differs from the criminal process in purpose and procedure and, most importantly, in the factors 

which render it fair.  Extradition procedure, unlike the criminal procedure, is founded on concepts of 

reciprocity, comity and respect for differences in other jurisdictions."  However, the test of 

committal for extradition is the same as that required to justify committal for trial or to withdraw the 

case from a jury: see United States of America v. Ferras 2006 SCC 33, [2006] S.C.J. No.33 at 

paragraph 9.  The extradition judge must assess whether there is sufficient admissible evidence to 

reach a verdict of guilty: Ferras at paragraph 46.  

 

[30]  In both the criminal trial context and in extradition proceedings which may lead to a 

criminal trial in another jurisdiction, the person’s liberty and security interests are at stake. I 

consider it appropriate, therefore, that the test of relevance for disclosure of information in the 

context of an extradition proceeding should be the same as that for a criminal trial, i.e., the 

Stinchcombe test.  
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[31] Where the designated judge in a section 38 proceeding finds that the information is relevant, 

the next step is a determination whether disclosure would be injurious to international relations, 

national defence or national security, as outlined in section 38.06 of the CEA.  At this stage, the 

judge must give considerable weight to the Attorney General’s submissions on the injury which 

might be caused by disclosure, given the access that officeholder has to special information and 

expertise.   

 

[32] However, a mere assertion of injury is not sufficient to reach a conclusion that the injury 

would in fact be caused by the disclosure.  The party seeking the prohibition on disclosure, normally 

the Attorney General, bears the onus of establishing through evidence a factual basis to the 

allegations of probable injury on a reasonableness standard.   

 

[33] To illustrate the application of the reasonableness standard in the national security context, 

Canadian courts have referred to comments in Home Secretary v. Rehman, [2001] H.L.J. No. 47, 

[2001] 3 WLR 877 (HL (E)).  At page 895 of Rehman, Lord Hoffman said that the Court may reject 

the Executive's opinion when it was "one which no reasonable minister advising the Crown could in 

the circumstances reasonably have held". This statement was cited by the Supreme Court of Canada 

in describing a similar legislative test in Suresh v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and 

Immigration), 2002 SCC 1, [2002] 1 S.C.R. 3, at paragraph 33 and by the Federal Court of Appeal 

in Ribic at paragraph 19.   

 

20
08

 F
C

 5
49

 (
C

an
LI

I)



 

 

[34] It is clear from the jurisprudence that the judge has the discretion to authorize disclosure if 

the Attorney General fails to demonstrate injury. As stated by Chief Justice John Richard of the 

Federal Court of Appeal in the context of a challenge to the constitutionality of the legislative 

scheme, an “authorization to disclose will issue if the judge is satisfied that no injury would result 

from public disclosure”: Canada (Attorney General) v. Khawaja, 2007 FCA 388, [2007] F.C.J. No. 

1635 [Khawaja II] at paragraph 42.   

 

[35] Where the Attorney General can show a reasonable basis for his or her assessment that the 

disclosure of the information at issue would cause injury to international relations, national defence 

or national security, the judge must then proceed to the final step of the test.  At this point, it must be 

determined whether the public interest in disclosure is outweighed by the public interest in non-

disclosure.  In assessing this balance, the threshold is neither the low strict relevancy test of 

Stinchcombe nor the stringent “innocence at stake” exception which applies to informer privilege.  

 

[36] The factors to be considered in determining whether the public interest is best served by 

disclosure or non-disclosure will vary from case to case, as has been noted often in the Federal 

Court, including by Justice François Lemieux in the civil case Canada (Attorney General) v. 

Kempo, 2004 FC 1678, [2004] F.C.J. No. 2196.  The designated judge is tasked in the third step of a 

section 38 application with the function of assessing those factors which he or she deems necessary 

to find the delicate balance between competing public interests of disclosure and non-disclosure. 

 

 

 

20
08

 F
C

 5
49

 (
C

an
LI

I)



 

 

[37] Some of the factors which may be assessed were outlined by Justice Marshall Rothstein, 

then a member of the Federal Court, in Khan v. Canada (T.D.), [1996] 2 F.C. 316, [1996] F.C.J. No. 

190 at paragraph 26. These factors, set out below, were cited with approval by the Court of Appeal 

in Jose Pereira E Hijos, S.A. v. Canada (Attorney General), 2002 FCA 470, [2002] F.C.J. No. 

1658: 

(a)  The nature of the public interest sought to be protected by confidentiality;  
(b)  Whether the evidence in question will "probably establish a fact crucial to the defence";  
(c)  The seriousness of the charge or issues involved;  
(d)  The admissibility of the documentation and the usefulness of it;  
(e)  Whether the applicants have established that there are no other reasonable ways of 

obtaining the information; 
(f)  Whether the disclosures sought amount to general discovery or a fishing expedition; 

(citations removed) 
 

[38]   In a different context, that of an application arising from a public inquiry, my colleague 

Justice Simon Noël developed the following list of factors in Arar, above, at paragraph 93: 

(a) The extent of the injury; 
(b) The relevancy of the redacted information to the procedure in 

which it would be used, or the objectives of the body wanting to 
disclose the information; 

(c) Whether the redacted information is already known to the public, 
and if so the manner by which the information made its way into 
the public domain; 

(d) The importance of the open court principle; 
(e) The importance of the redacted information in the context of the 

underlying proceeding; 
(f) Whether there are higher interests at stake, such as human rights 

issues, the right to make a full answer and defence in the criminal 
context, etc.; 

(g) Whether the redacted information relates to the recommendations 
of the commission and if so whether the information is important 
for comprehensive understanding of the said recommendation. 
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[39] While the last of Justice Noël’s factors in Arar clearly does not apply in the present case, the 

remainder together with those identified by Justice Rothstein, varied as necessary, informed my 

consideration of how to balance the competing interests in the present application.   

 

Inadvertent Disclosures: 

 

[40] At common-law, privileges attached to information can be found to have been waived if the 

information is released by the holder to the opposing party. Inadvertent disclosure does not 

necessarily constitute a waiver. Waiver will be established when it is shown that the holder of the 

privilege knew of its existence and demonstrated an intention to waive it. The Court has discretion 

to consider whether the circumstances of disclosure amount to a waiver:  Stephens v. Canada 

(Prime Minister), [1998] 4 F.C.89, [1998] F.C.J. No. 794.  

 

[41] In Khawaja I, at paragraphs 104 to 111, I considered what, if any, effect the inadvertent 

disclosure of some of the information before the Court should have in a section 38 case. I concluded 

that the release of information which the Attorney General seeks to protect, not amounting to an 

informed and intentional waiver, is not enough to justify disclosure. In light of the case-by-case 

nature of the section 38 test and the importance of the interests at stake, the appropriate approach is 

to proceed by way of the same three-step assessment as for disclosure generally.   

 

[42] In Arar, at paragraph 57, Justice Noël endorsed this approach but added that the 

circumstances of the “inadvertent disclosure” are of essential importance in determining whether the 

information can be protected by the Court.  
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Other “Public Interest” Considerations: 

 

[43]   The public interest in disclosure in section 38.06 exceeds the public interest in the fair trial 

rights of the individual concerned. It is broad enough to encompass other interests such as those 

noted by Justice Noël in Arar, above: human rights issues, the open court principle, freedom of the 

press and the right of the public to receive information. 

 

[44] Freedom of the press is engaged in this proceeding in light of the inadvertent disclosure of 

one of the items of information to a newspaper. Freedom of expression including freedom of the 

press and the public’s right to receive information are core values protected by subsection 2 (b) of 

the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, Part I of the Constitution Act, being Schedule B to 

the Canada Act 1982 (U.K.) 1982, c.11. The scope of the protection afforded freedom of the press 

must be interpreted “in a generous and liberal fashion having regard to the history of the guarantee 

and focusing on the purpose of the guarantee”: Canadian Broadcasting Corp. v. Lessard, [1991] 3 

S.C.R. 421, [1991] S.C.J. No.87 at paragraph 61.  

 

[45] Inextricably linked to those values is the principle of the openness of court proceedings (see 

Vancouver Sun, (Re) 2004 SCC 43, [2004] S.C.J. No.41 and Toronto Star Newspapers Ltd. v. 

Ontario, 2005 SCC 41, [2005] S.C.J. No.41).  Freedom of the press and the open court principle are 

not, however, absolute. They must yield on occasion when there are other important interests to be 

protected such as informant privilege (see Named Person v.  Vancouver Sun, 2007 SCC 43, [2007] 

S.C.J. No. 43) or to protect the right of an individual to a fair hearing (see Re Charkaoui, 2008 FC 

61). 
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[46] The Attorney General plays an important role in protecting the state's interest in national 

security, national defence and international relations and, as discussed above, the court should give 

considerable weight to submissions from that office with respect to the injury that the disclosure of 

the information would cause. However, even where injury is established the court retains the 

discretion under the statute to determine that the public interest in disclosure of the information 

outweighs that of nondisclosure. The effect of the decision on the restriction of a core value such as 

freedom of the press must be a significant factor in that determination. 

 

[47] It is clear now that any court procedures that limit freedom of expression and freedom of the 

press in relation to legal proceedings, including those imposed by statute, are subject to the test set 

out by the Supreme Court of Canada in Dagenais v. Canadian Broadcasting Corp., [1994] 3 

S.C.R.835, [1994] S.C.J. No.104 and R. v. Mentuck 2001 SCC 76, [2001] 3 S.C.R. 442; see also 

Toronto Star Newspapers Limited v. Ontario, 2005 SCC 41, [2005] 2 S.C.R. 188 at paragraph 7. 

This was affirmed in the section 38 CEA context by Chief Justice Allen Lutfy in  Ottawa Citizen 

Group Inc. v.  Canada (Attorney General), 2006 FC 1552, [2006] F.C.J.  No. 1969.  

 

[48] The Dagenais/Mentuck test requires that public access to court proceedings be barred only 

when the appropriate court in the exercise of its discretion concludes that disclosure would subvert 

the ends of justice or unduly impair its proper administration. This test is meant to be applied in a 

flexible and contextual manner. In applying that test to the present context, I conclude that the court 

must be satisfied that the risk of injury from further disclosure of the information which the 
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newspaper possesses must be “real, substantial and well grounded in the evidence”: Toronto Star, 

above, at paragraph 27. 

 

ISSUES: 

 

[49]   The issues to be decided by the Court in these proceedings are: 

(a) Whether to confirm the prohibition against disclosure of the information redacted 

pursuant to subsection 38.06(3) of the CEA; 

(b) Whether to confirm the prohibition against further disclosure of some information 

that was inadvertently disclosed; and 

(c) If the prohibition against disclosure is not confirmed, in what manner or under 

what conditions should the information be disclosed so as to limit the harm to 

national security and international relations? 

 

APPLYING THE THREE STAGE TEST TO THE INFORMATION AT ISSUE: 

  

The Relevance Threshold: 

 

[50] The information at issue in these proceedings is contained in documents which are, for the 

most part, messages, reports and briefing notes written or compiled by Canadian officials in 

Islamabad, Pakistan and at CSIS, RCMP and DFAIT offices in Canada and correspondence from 

foreign officials.  A considerable amount of the redacted information was provided by foreign 

agencies subject to express or implied caveats as to its use and broader distribution by their 

20
08

 F
C

 5
49

 (
C

an
LI

I)



 

 

Canadian counterparts. There is a great deal of repetition of the same information as the content of 

messages received by one Canadian agency or department was circulated to the others and recycled 

in further messages and reports.   

 

[51] Much of the redacted information is, in my view, of no relevance to the underlying 

proceedings. This includes background analyses of a general nature, frequent references to other on-

going investigations and to internal administrative information such as the names and telephone 

numbers of agents and civilian employees, file numbers, communication systems and databanks. 

That is not to say that such types of information may never be relevant but that upon review of the 

documents in these proceedings, I am satisfied that it does not meet the Stinchcombe threshold.  

Counsel for the applicant did not suggest that this type of information would be helpful to the 

defence. In a particular document, such as a briefing note on a broad range of topics, there may be 

only a small portion of text that is relevant to Mr. Khadr’s case.  

 

[52] Where I have concluded that the redacted information does not meet the low threshold of 

relevance I have excluded it from further consideration in the next two stages of the test and 

inclusion in the summary that has been prepared. 

 

[53] The applicant’s position is that the relevance of the redacted information ought to be 

determined by reference to the matters raised in the disclosure motion and examined by Justice 

Speyer in his decision of July 20, 2007.  As noted above, Speyer J. held that the materials filed by 

the applicant on that motion met the "air of reality" threshold giving rise to a justiciable issue as to 
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whether the applicant was treated in such an abusive matter that the admission of the statement 

evidence would be unfair under section 7 of the Charter: see  Ferras, above, at paragraph 60. 

 

[54] I note that any finding that this Court may make regarding relevance is not binding upon the 

extradition court. Admissibility of evidence on behalf of the person sought in those proceedings is 

governed by paragraph 32 (1) (c) of the Extradition Act, 1999 c.18. That provision permits the 

reception of evidence which would not be otherwise admissible under Canadian law if it is relevant 

to the test for committal and considered reliable by the Court. That exception applies to evidence 

gathered abroad and would include hearsay.  Evidence gathered in Canada remains bound by 

Canadian rules of evidence: U.S.A. v. Anekwu [2008] B.C.J. No. 536 (B.C.C.A.). That distinction 

may have some bearing on the admissibility of the information in the protected documents as it 

includes third party statements made both in Canada and abroad. 

 

[55] The applicant's allegations of physical and mental abuse and arbitrary detention will be 

considered by the extradition court in so far as they relate to the issues of admissibility and fairness 

in those proceedings. The applicant’s assumption is that the redacted information reproduced in the 

affidavit material before this Court will be relevant to those determinations. In particular, he seeks to 

corroborate his allegations that agents of the United States were behind his capture and detention in 

Pakistan and complicit in any abuse that he suffered during his detention there.  

 

[56] At paragraph 51 of his reasons, Justice Speyer made the following comments: 
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All allegations about American misconduct are denied by the 
requesting state.  The relationship between American and Pakistani 
authorities in so far as it relates to the detention and treatment of 
Khadr is entirely a matter of speculation.  In my view, this is a 
fishing trip to determine what, if any, American-Pakistani 
relationship agreement was in place relating to the arrest of Khadr....   
 

 

[57] The applicant submits that disclosure of the redacted information will establish that the 

relationship between the American and the Pakistani authorities is more than a matter of 

speculation. 

 

[58] The respondent acknowledges that the air of reality test had been met on the disclosure 

motion but submits that this was achieved solely through the applicant's own evidence and not on 

the content of the documents voluntarily disclosed, including the redacted information.  The 

respondent does not concede that the redacted information is relevant.  

 

[59] In the context of extradition proceedings, the respondent submits, relevance should be 

determined in relation to the content and scope of the requesting state’s ROC and supplementary 

ROCs.  In this instance the record consists of the statement taken by the FBI in Pakistan, some eight 

months after Khadr's arrest, and the statements taken in Toronto by the RCMP and the FBI 

following his release and repatriation. Thus the redacted information would only be relevant, in the 

respondent’s view, if it assists in shedding some light on how those statements were obtained. 
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[60] I agree with the respondent that in a section 38 review of information sought to be disclosed 

for the purpose of an underlying extradition case, the scope of the relevance inquiry by the 

designated proceedings court should normally be limited to the parameters of the ROC submitted by 

the requesting state.  

 

[61] However, the applicant says that the later statements which he made were derived from and 

are tainted by abusive conduct which he suffered in the initial days following his capture. He claims 

that he was arrested and detained at the behest of the requesting state; that a bounty was paid for his 

capture; that he was abused during his initial detention and coerced into making inculpatory 

statements; and that agents of the requesting state participated in the abuse during the early 

interrogation.  

 

[62] The requesting state has conceded in affidavit evidence submitted to the extradition court 

and filed in this court as part of the applicant’s record that agents of the United States began to 

interview Mr. Khadr some four days after his arrest, described as “debriefings”, which continued for 

17 days while he was within the custody of the Pakistani authorities. A member of the FBI was part 

of the team that conducted those debriefings.  

 

[63] Inculpatory statements may be ruled inadmissible if tainted by earlier confessions obtained 

by coercion and where the tainting features which would disqualify the earlier confessions 

continued to be present or where the making of the prior statements was a substantial factor 

contributing to the making of the later statement: R. v. I. (L.R.) and T. (E.), [1993] 4 S.C.R. 504, 

[1993] S.C.J. No. 132. The applicant says that when the RCMP and FBI officers interviewed him 
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later, they possessed information obtained during the early meetings and used it to challenge him on 

any inconsistency during the subsequent interviews.  

 

[64] I understand that the requesting state takes the position that the FBI team that interviewed 

Mr. Khadr in Pakistan and again in Toronto was not apprised of the information obtained from him 

during the early debriefing sessions and that those statements are not tainted by any abuse, 

inducements or coercion that may have occurred following his capture. They deny involvement in 

any such actions if  they occurred. Nonetheless, on the basis of the applicant’s evidence alone, 

because of the full sequence of events, as alleged, there remains a realistic possibility that the 

statements taken under caution in Pakistan and Canada may be excluded from consideration in the 

extradition proceedings. I find, therefore, that any redacted information in the documents before the 

Court pertaining to the entire period of the applicant’s detention in Pakistan may reasonably be 

useful to the defence and is relevant for the purposes of this determination. 

 

[65] During the course of the hearings on February 21-22, 2008 counsel for the applicant made 

submissions as to the type of information that would assist the defence in challenging the requesting 

state’s case if it were to be found in the documents at issue. In addition, at paragraph 65 of the 

applicant’s application record, counsel set out a series of specific questions for which answers or 

relevant information would assist the applicant’s defence. This was helpful to the Court during the 

review of the documents and the Attorney General’s ex parte evidence. 
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[66] Counsel for the Attorney General and the amicus curiae also adopted a constructive 

approach to these proceedings by producing a table of the redacted information which in their joint 

or separate view could meet the relevance threshold together with a summary of the information. 

Mr. MacKinnon, counsel for the Attorney General, does not concede that the summary should be 

released and indeed argued vigorously to the contrary, particularly with respect to specific items. 

The amicus curiae, Mr. Shore, argued equally vigorously for the disclosure of additional 

information. As an experienced criminal defence counsel, Mr. Shore’s view of what would be 

relevant and of assistance to the defence carried great weight with the Court.  

 

[67] I am grateful to all counsel for their assistance to the Court in this matter.  However, as 

required by the statute, I have made my own determination of what is relevant to the underlying 

proceedings based on a consideration of all of the evidence and having read all of the information at 

issue in each of the documents in its unredacted or clear form.  

 

The Respondent’s Injury Claims: 

 

[68] As discussed above, the Attorney General bears the onus of establishing injury. In this case, 

he does not rely upon a claim of injury to national defence. The public affidavits served on the 

applicant and filed by the Attorney General in these proceedings describe various risks of harm 

which it is claimed would cause injury to Canada’s national security and international relations. 

These claims were elaborated upon in the private ex parte affidavits filed by the respondent and in 

the evidence of the witnesses heard in the ex parte hearings with reference to the redacted 

information in each document.  
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[69] In general, the Attorney General submits that disclosure of the information sought to be 

protected will harm Canada's national security and or international relations by breaching the 

confidentiality of information sharing relations with third parties; by disclosing methods, techniques 

or ongoing investigations; by disclosing information about employees engaged in security 

intelligence work; and by identifying human sources. 

 

[70] Specific concerns are set out in the respondent’s public record for each of the departments 

and agencies from whom the information at issue in these proceedings was collected. For CSIS, it is 

submitted, the disclosure of its information would be injurious to the national security of Canada as 

it would: 

a) Identify or tend to identify CSIS's interest in individuals, groups or issues, including the 

existence or absence of past or present files or investigations, the intensity of 

investigations, or the degree of success or lack thereof of investigations; 

b) Identify or tend to identify investigative techniques and methods of operation utilized by 

CSIS; 

c) Identify or tend to identify relationships that CSIS maintains with security and 

intelligence foreign agencies and would disclose information received in confidence from 

such sources; 

d) Identify or tend to identify CSIS employees or the administrative methodology of CSIS; 

e) Identify or tend to identify human sources of information for CSIS or the content of 

information provided by human sources; and 

f) Identify or tend to identify information concerning the telecommunications system 

utilized by CSIS. 
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[71] On behalf of DFAIT, it is submitted that confidentiality is fundamental to the collecting and 

sharing of information between states. International convention and practice requires that diplomatic 

communications are conducted in confidence unless there is an express agreement to the contrary. 

The release of the names of confidential sources and information provided by foreign officials with 

the expectation that the information would remain confidential would have a severe impact on 

Canada's ability to pursue its foreign-policy objectives and its reputation with other governments 

including key allies. Failure to protect such information in relation to consular cases could have an 

adverse effect on Canada's ability to provide consular assistance to detained individuals. Efforts to 

promote human rights, democracy and good governance would be compromised if candid 

assessments of Canadian officials about the situation in foreign states were released. Contacts in 

those states who engage in frank discussions with Canadian officials would be put at risk if their 

identities were disclosed. 

 

[72] The RCMP is responsible for conducting investigations into terrorism offences as defined in 

Part II.1 of the Criminal Code, R.S., 1985, c. C-46 and for performing peace officer duties under the 

Security Offences Act, R.S. 1985, c.S-7 in relation to "conduct constituting a threat to the security of 

Canada" within the meaning of the Canadian Security Intelligence Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-23. It is 

submitted by the Attorney General that disclosure of information in the documents collected from 

the RCMP would cause injury to national security in relation to the following sensitive subjects: 

a) Investigations, subjects and persons of interest; 

b) Investigative methods and techniques; 

c) Information received from foreign agencies; and 

d) The identity of civilian employees. 
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The “Mosaic Effect” Theory 

 

[73] As is common in any proceeding relating to national security, the Attorney General relies in 

part upon the metaphor of a “mosaic effect” to establish injury. In the hands of the informed reader, 

it is said, seemingly unrelated pieces of information which may not in and of themselves be 

particularly sensitive, can be used to develop a more comprehensive picture when compared with 

information already known by the recipient or available from another source. The court is urged to 

conclude that the assessment of the damage to national security cannot be made looking at each 

item of information in isolation.  The information must be considered in the context of other 

information which may be released.  The more limited the dissemination of information, the less 

likely it is that an informed reader can put together the pieces and determine targets, sources and 

methods of operation of the investigative agencies. 

 

[74] This theory has been cited numerous times in US and Canadian jurisprudence relating to 

national security and access to information held by the intelligence agencies.  As a matter of logic, 

the concept has some appeal but there is no apparent limit to how far it may be taken. Carried to an 

extreme, the theory would justify the withholding of all information no matter how innocuous. See 

David E.  Pozen, The Mosaic Theory, National Security, and the Freedom of Information Act, 

(2005) Yale Law Journal 629 and CIA v. Sims: Mosaic Theory and Government Attitude; (2006) 58 

Admin. L. Review 845. 
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[75] In Khawaja I, I expressed the view, at paragraph 136, that the mosaic effect on its own will 

not usually provide sufficient reason to prevent disclosure of what would otherwise appear to be an 

innocuous piece of information and that further evidence will be required to convince the Court that 

the information, if disclosed, would be injurious.  

 

[76] In Khawaja II, Justice J.D. Denis Pelletier discussed the difficulty in deciding whether 

information, apparently innocuous on its face, has value to a hostile observer. He concluded, at 

paragraphs 124-126, that it is this uncertainty about seemingly innocuous information that sets 

section 38 proceedings apart from other proceedings where the Court must decide whether to 

disclose information which, at the time of argument, is known only to one of the parties. The ex 

parte procedure allows the Attorney General to address the Court candidly about the injury which 

would be caused by disclosure. 

 

[77] I agree with Justice Pelletier that the ex parte hearings are the opportunity for the Attorney 

General to connect the dots and present the entire picture. But the Attorney General must present 

evidence to back up the injury claims. Witnesses from the intelligence community may take the 

mosaic effect theory as an article of faith, relying upon it as a complete answer to the release of 

information they consider sensitive or potentially harmful. As stated by Justice Noël in Arar, at 

paragraph 84, “[s]imply alleging the effect is not enough. There must be some basis or reality for 

such a claim based on the particulars of a given file.”  
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The Applicant’s Position on Injury 

 

[78] The applicant does not concede that any of the information at issue before this Court meets 

the second stage of the section 38.06 analysis.  Counsel observed that the applicant's ability to 

comment upon this aspect of the test is compromised by the ex parte aspects of the proceedings. 

However, the applicant submits that in principle the disclosure of information pertaining to past 

investigations, information being withheld to prevent the exposure of a foreign government to 

embarrassment for wrongdoing, information provided by Canada to a foreign government, 

exculpatory information provided by a foreign government, and information that is protected solely 

because it is in the possession of CSIS should not be found to cause injury to Canada’s national 

security and foreign relations. 

 

[79] In these proceedings I have not found it necessary to consider whether the Attorney General 

sought to protect exculpatory information provided by a foreign government as that issue does not 

arise from the record before me. Nor was there any suggestion by the Attorney General that 

information provided to a foreign government by Canada or information in the possession of CSIS 

required protection on those grounds alone. In each instance, the Attorney General sought 

confirmation of his decision on the basis of the three stage test outlined above. However, the 

Attorney General disputes the contention that information relating to past investigations should 

never be protected and I consider it necessary to comment on the embarrassment factor. 
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Past investigations: 

 

[80] The question of past investigations arises in this case because of statements made in the 

respondent’s record to the effect that information pertaining to past national security investigations 

must be protected from public disclosure.  The applicant submits that the information at issue 

pertains primarily to the investigation of his activities by the RCMP and CSIS.  Considerable detail 

about that investigation is set out in the unredacted portions of the documents filed in these 

proceedings, in the affidavit evidence filed in support of the interim arrest warrant application, and 

in the ROC and supplementary ROCs.  

 

[81] The applicant contends that the jurisprudence recognizes the legitimacy of claims for public 

interest immunity only in respect of ongoing investigations and not past investigations. There is no 

legitimate government interest he submits, in withholding any further information on this basis, 

citing R. v. Chan, 2002 ABQB 287, [2002] A.J. 363 at paragraphs 122 -127.   

 

[82] Chan was a criminal case in which the question of public interest immunity had arisen in the 

context of the Crown's disclosure obligations under the Stinchcombe rule. Upon a review of the case 

law, the trial judge concluded that a qualified common-law privilege attached to information 

respecting ongoing investigations, investigative techniques and the safety of individuals. The 

decision is silent about past investigations and the applicant infers from this that they are excluded 

from the scope of the privilege. 
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[83] I note that the Supreme Court of Canada has recently determined that the privilege which 

attaches to the Crown's litigation work product in a prosecution ends when the case is completed: 

see Blank v. Canada (Attorney General) 2006 SCC 39, [2006] S.C.J. No. 39. 

 

[84] The Attorney General submits that in the national security context, investigations do not 

often reach a tidy conclusion with a charge, prosecution, trial and conviction or acquittal.  

Information obtained is added to the body of intelligence collected about known or suspected threats 

and may assist in other related or unrelated investigations.  The question to be addressed by the 

Court under section 38.06 is not whether the information pertains to an ongoing or completed 

investigation but whether disclosure would cause injury to the protected interests.  The age of the 

information and present value may be a consideration in determining whether injury is made out or, 

if established, whether the public interest favours disclosure. 

 

[85] I agree with the Attorney General’s view of this question. I would add that from my review 

of the evidence in the present case, I am satisfied that there can be no clear distinction made 

between past and on-going investigations. Moreover, disclosure of the status of any possibly 

inactive investigation conducted by the RCMP or CSIS that may be revealed by the redacted 

information could cause injury to the protected national security interests. 
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Embarrassment for wrongdoing: 

 

[86] As noted above, the applicant seeks disclosure of information in support of his claims that 

he was subjected to abusive treatment amounting to torture and arbitrary detention contrary to both 

international law and the domestic law of Pakistan. He submits that the policy underlying section 

38.06 of the CEA is not to prevent the exposure of a government to embarrassment for wrongdoing. 

 

[87] My colleague Justice Simon Noël addressed this question in Arar, above. I agree with his 

conclusion, at paragraph 60, that information which is critical or embarrassing to the government 

cannot be protected but would add the qualification that this principle applies only when that is the 

sole or genuine reason why protection is sought.  

 

[88] That conclusion is, I think, clear from the authorities cited by Justice Noël including the 

following statement from the Johannesburg Principles: National Security, Freedom of Expression 

and Access to Information, U.N. Doc. E/CN.4/1996/39 (1996), an instrument for interpreting article 

19 of the United Nations International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights at Principle 2 (b): 

In particular, a restriction sought to be justified on the ground of 
national security is not legitimate if its genuine purpose or 
demonstrable effect is to protect interests unrelated to national 
security, including, for example, to protect the government from 
embarrassment or exposure of wrongdoing… [Abridged and 
emphasis added]. 

 

[89] I accept this statement as an expression of the principle Justice Noël was referring to in Arar 

with the exception of the inclusion of the words "or demonstrable effect" from the Johannesburg 

document. Regrettably, in some cases, protecting Canada's security and international relations 

interests may have the unintended and unwanted effect of protecting a government from 
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embarrassment or exposure. However, if, based on the Court’s examination of the evidence, that is 

the sole or genuine reason the Attorney General seeks to withhold the information, the information 

must be disclosed. 

 

[90] In the present case, I do not find that the Attorney General seeks to maintain the statutory 

prohibition on the redacted information merely because its disclosure would embarrass any foreign 

government or that of Canada. That may be a consequence of the release of certain information but 

it is not the “genuine purpose” of the Attorney General’s opposition to disclosure in this case. Each 

claim for protection is legitimately based on other grounds such as the third party rule.  

 

Third Party Rule: 

 

[91] As discussed above, the Attorney General seeks to maintain the statutory bar on disclosure 

of certain information on the ground that its release would breach the so-called “third party rule” 

which attaches to confidential communications between governments, their departments and 

agencies and officials. In some instances, the information is transmitted as classified with express 

caveats as to its use or further distribution by the receiving agency. In others, confidentiality is 

implied by the circumstances in which the information is conveyed. Foreign agencies may consent 

to the disclosure of some or all of their information for use in court proceedings. However, they may 

also take the position that their information or indeed, any indication of their interest in a particular 

matter must be protected indefinitely.  
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[92] As has been recognized repeatedly in the jurisprudence, Canada is a net importer of security 

intelligence information. The proportion we receive from foreign agencies far exceeds that which 

we provide in return. While CSIS may operate abroad in the interests of collecting information 

about threats to the security of Canada, it is not a foreign intelligence agency of the nature of those 

maintained by our closest allies and international partners. Canada depends upon the continued flow 

of the information they collect and share. Thus, any violation of the confidential relationship puts 

that flow of information at risk and could jeopardize Canada’s national security. There is also a 

long-standing presumption of confidentiality in the day to day working relationships of our 

diplomats and officials with their foreign counterparts abroad and at home.  

 

[93] In this matter, a considerable amount of the redacted information at issue was received from 

foreign governments. Evidence was received ex parte that requests had been made to certain of the 

agencies concerned to consent to disclosure of the redacted information which had originated with 

them. The Attorney General takes the position that such inquiries should not be considered to be a 

prerequisite to a determination by the Court that injury would result from a breach of the principle. 

In my view, however, the failure to make such inquiries may undermine the claim particularly 

where, as is often the case, on its face the information appears to be innocuous.  

 

[94] In the case of one foreign agency, no response had been received as of the conclusion of the 

hearings. I believe it to be unlikely that it would ever agree to such a request given the position it 

has consistently maintained. With regard to the agency of another government, Canadian officials 

believed it would be futile to approach them considering the circumstances in which the information 

had been transmitted. Upon hearing all of the evidence, I agreed with that assessment.  

20
08

 F
C

 5
49

 (
C

an
LI

I)



 

 

 

 

[95] I note that the FBI responded to the request by agreeing to the lifting of redactions on certain 

information that had been provided by its offices. The Attorney General agreed to disclosure of that 

information. Those pages were then revised, filed with the Court and sent to applicant’s counsel. 

That reduced the scope of the Court’s review of the material. 

 

[96] In this case, I had the benefit of the assistance of the amicus, Mr. Shore, to add to the 

Court’s own probing of the justification for the claim of injury which would result from breach of 

the third party rule and whether steps had been taken to obtain consent to disclosure.  

 

[97] In general, I agree with the exercise of the Attorney General’s discretion to protect 

information on the ground that it would harm Canada’s interests by breaching the third party rule. 

The people who do the internal assessments that support that exercise of discretion are experienced, 

knowledgeable and in day to day contact with their foreign counterparts. The evidence of the harm 

that would result from unilateral disclosure presented by the ex parte witnesses put forward by the 

Attorney General was credible and trustworthy. The witnesses were candid when they did not know 

why the foreign agency would want to protect the information but firm in their view of the results if 

those views were disregarded. 
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[98] Nonetheless, it is my view that too much of the routine communications between foreign 

and Canadian agencies is protected by the Attorney General in application of the third party 

principle. In this case there were examples that simply did not stand up to scrutiny. I am equally of 

the view that most of that type of information in this case is irrelevant to the underlying 

proceedings. There is no point in making a pro forma injury determination or balancing assessment 

of such information when it can be of no assistance to the applicant.  

 

[99] I accept that, overall, the Attorney General has satisfied his burden to establish that 

disclosure of the information which I have found to be relevant would cause injury to Canada’s 

national security and international relations. The next step then is to consider whether, 

notwithstanding that finding, the public interest in disclosure outweighs the public interest in non-

disclosure. 

 

Balancing the Public Interests: 

 

[100] With respect to the third step of the analysis - the balancing of the public interests - the 

Attorney General relies on the evidence tendered on injury and submits that the public interest in 

nondisclosure of the protected information outweighs any public interest in its disclosure.  In the 

alternative, the Attorney General submits, if it is determined that all or part of the information ought 

to be disclosed the court should exercise its discretion to disclose the information in a manner or 

impose conditions that are most likely to limit any injury pursuant to subsection 38.06(2). 
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[101] The applicant submits that any injury to the interests protected by section 38 can be 

eliminated by the imposition of appropriate conditions.  As such, all information should be 

disclosed in a manner which prevents its disclosure to anyone other than on a "need to know" basis.  

The options for disclosure which the applicant proposed, in his descending order of preference, are 

as follows: 

 

a) Disclosure of relevant documents and information publicly and unconditionally; 

b) Disclosure of a summary of the relevant documents and information publicly and 

unconditionally; 

c) Disclosure of all relevant information to the applicant's counsel on the condition that it 

may only be disclosed to the extradition judge during an in camera proceeding and not to 

any other party, including the applicant, 

d) Disclosure of all relevant information to an amicus curiae appointed by the court on the 

condition that it may only be disclosed by the amicus curiae to the extradition judge 

during an in camera proceeding and not to any other party including the applicant. 

 

[102] During oral argument, counsel for the applicant indicated that they were no longer 

proposing the fourth option. I had expressed the view that it was highly unlikely that I would 

presume to impose a requirement that the extradition judge permit an appearance in camera by an 

amicus appointed by this Court. However, counsel submitted that this Court has the jurisdiction to 

order that information only be disclosed in the context of an in camera hearing, leaving it to the 

discretion of the extradition judge to order any such proceeding should he or she deem it necessary. 
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[103] There are strongly competing public interests in this case. The public has an interest in 

ensuring that information that would be relevant to the extradition proceedings against the applicant 

is disclosed to him for the purposes of his defence. That interest reflects Canadian values and is 

enshrined in the guarantee of fundamental justice set out in section 7 of our Charter. The public also 

has a profound interest in maintaining the capacity of Canada’s intelligence and investigative 

agencies to respond to threats to our collective security and the ability of our foreign affairs officers 

to conduct candid and effective relations with other countries.  

 

[104] There is an additional factor that may call for additional deference to the Attorney General’s 

position in these proceedings. Consideration of the public interest must include the fact that the 

security of Canada’s troops and civilians in Afghanistan is in part dependent upon the cooperation 

of other governments in the region and that of the other members of the international security force 

deployed there. In that context, disclosure of the information at issue may have a much more serious 

impact if it were to result in a withdrawal or diminution of that cooperation.  

 

[105] As discussed above, balancing the public interests in this case must also take into account 

the Charter’s guarantee of freedom of the press including the public’s right to receive information 

which the press may obtain and choose to report upon.  
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[106] In the present case, The Globe and Mail obtained certain information because it was 

disclosed by the Crown to counsel for the applicant and was to be filed in an open court proceeding. 

It was only determined following service of the applicant’s materials upon Crown counsel that the 

information was sensitive and might cause injury to a protected interest.  The newspaper acted 

responsibly in not publishing the information when alerted by counsel that there was a concern. But 

for the subsequent intervention of a notice served on the Attorney General pursuant to the Act, 

however,  the newspaper would have been free to publish the information and the public would 

have known of its content and been able to consider its implications. If not released through these 

proceedings, the public may never come to know of the information. 

 

[107] The information in question refers to the payment of a bounty of USD $500,000 for Mr. 

Khadr’s capture in Pakistan.  The Pakistani authorities had reasons of their own for wanting to arrest 

Mr. Khadr given his alleged activities in that country. The information does not say that the bounty 

was actually paid or, if it was paid, by whom. The originating source of the information is not 

disclosed in the document. But it is clear that Canadian officials were told that a bounty had been 

paid shortly after the applicant’s capture and included that information, presumably considered 

reliable, in briefing their superiors, in this instance the RCMP Commissioner.  

 

[108] It is a reasonable inference from the public evidence filed in this application that the bounty 

was offered and paid by the US Government. Counsel for The Globe and Mail led evidence that the 

payment of bounties by the US has been freely disclosed in comparable contexts and, indeed, 

celebrated by US officials as a valuable tactic in apprehending suspected terrorists in the region.  

General Musharraf, the Head of State of Pakistan, published memoirs in which he writes of the 
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receipt of US bounties by his country as an illustration of its contribution to the so-called “Global 

War on Terror”.   

 

[109] The Attorney General submits that the fact a bounty may have been employed in this 

instance has never been publicly acknowledged, that the release of the information would cause 

injury to Canada’s interests and that the Court should issue an Order barring its further disclosure.  

 

[110] The evidence heard in camera supports the conclusion that the bounty was offered and paid 

by the US. I accept that the information was conveyed to Canadian officials in confidence and that 

the Attorney General seeks to protect it in a good faith application of the third party rule. However, 

the sole justification that was provided to the Court as to why publication of the information should 

be prohibited is that the originator does not want the information disclosed. No further explanation 

has been provided.  

 

[111] Counsel for the applicant submits that disclosure of this fact is crucial to his defence. On the 

evidence before me I am satisfied that the information is relevant to the allegations made by the 

applicant. I am unable to conclude that release of the information would cause harm to Canada’s 

national security or international relations. It is now more than three years since the information was 

received by Canadian officials, the general practice is in the public domain, no human source would 

appear to be at risk and the circumstances in Pakistan have changed since these events took place. 
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[112] Had I concluded that the assertion of injury had been made out, I would have determined 

that the public interest in disclosure outweighs the public interest in non-disclosure of the 

information. As discussed above, the  “public interest” includes the interests of the applicant to a 

full and fair airing of matters relevant to the admissibility of the case against him. In my view, that 

includes the information that a bounty was paid for his capture. 

 

[113] The fact that a foreign state paid a bounty for the apprehension of a Canadian citizen abroad 

and that Canadian officials were aware of it at an early stage is also a matter in which the public 

would have a legitimate interest.  While I considered whether it would be sufficient to authorize 

disclosure of the information to the applicant solely for the purpose of his defence to the extradition 

request, I have concluded that the newspaper should be allowed to publish the information and 

inform the public in furtherance of the core values of freedom of expression and freedom of the 

press. The prohibition on disclosure of this information will, therefore, not be confirmed. 

 

[114] With regard to all of the so-called “inadvertent disclosures”, including the item in the 

possession of the newspaper, the applicant submits that the circumstances of the release of the 

information to his counsel clearly demonstrated an informed intention on the part of the Crown to 

waive any privilege attaching to the documents. Crown counsel took some seven months to review 

information in the possession of the government that would be relevant to a determination of the 

issues in the extradition proceedings following their concession that the "air of reality" test had been 

met. They then proceeded to disclose that information.  It was only during a subsequent review, 

presumably by other Government personnel, that the claims of public interest immunity under 

section 38 were raised. Indeed, counsel states that until the documents were filed in these 

20
08

 F
C

 5
49

 (
C

an
LI

I)



 

 

proceedings the only inadvertent disclosure of which he had been made aware concerned the 

October 2004 briefing note released to The Globe and Mail.  

 

[115] The Attorney General submits that there is no evidence that the Crown ever intended to 

waive the privilege that attaches to the information.  At the time the documents were disclosed to 

the applicant, the statutory prohibition imposed by subsection 38.02 (1) had not yet come into 

existence with respect to the information at issue. In those circumstances, it is submitted, the Crown 

could not be said to have waived a privilege which had not yet crystallized.  In the decisions taken 

under section 38.03, the Attorney General confirmed the statutory prohibition and confirmed that 

there had been no intention to waive privilege. 

 

[116] The applicant contends that the circumstances of this case are different from those in 

Khawaja I as in that case it was clear that mistakes had been made in redacting documents in the 

disclosure process. Having dealt with both cases I see no real difference, apart from the fact that the 

quantity of material in Khawaja was considerably larger. Both cases illustrate that there are 

systemic difficulties in asserting section 38 claims where voluminous disclosure is being made and 

the public interest requires a thorough review of the material. There are a limited number of people 

who can do this work. Despite efforts to be consistent, mistakes will be made and information 

redacted in one document may be disclosed in another. Counsel for the Attorney General filed a 

table of concordance with the Court that demonstrates that the information in each of the claimed 

inadvertent disclosures had been consistently redacted in other documents. I am satisfied, therefore, 

that there was no informed waiver in these circumstances. 
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[117] I see no reason in this case to depart from the conclusion I reached in Khawaja I that the 

three stage test should be applied to any information in respect of which notice is served on the 

Attorney General even belatedly.  In reviewing the unredacted pages containing this information in 

the present case, it is clear that much of it consists of internal administrative information such as 

telephone or fax numbers or identifies the names and phone numbers of agency personnel. There are 

several references to the investigation of another individual. That information would not be of 

assistance to the applicant. It was properly redacted in other documents and I am satisfied that the 

failure to do so in this case was inadvertent oversight.  

 

[118] However, I see no practical purpose would be achieved at this time by requiring counsel for 

the applicant to destroy or return their copies of the unredacted inadvertent disclosures. These 

documents have remained in their possession for over a year without any apparent resulting harm to 

the protected national interests. I think it sufficient that the information not be further disclosed. 

There is some information in the list of inadvertent disclosures which counsel for the applicant 

indicated could be of assistance to his client. Those details are included in the summary which is to 

be provided to counsel and may be used in the extradition proceedings. 
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CONCLUSION 

 

[119] With regard to most of the information at issue in these proceedings, I am satisfied that the 

risk of injury has been established by the Attorney General.  In balancing the public interests, I 

conclude that the interest in disclosure outweighs that of non-disclosure. I will exercise my 

discretion pursuant to subsection 38.06 (2) of the Act to authorize disclosure of the relevant 

information in the form of a summary to be used solely for the purposes of the extradition hearings. 

A separate Private Order to that effect will be issued to counsel for the parties with the summary 

attached as an annex.  

 

[120] The information contained in the October 20, 2004 briefing note to the Commissioner of the 

RCMP is relevant to the underlying extradition proceedings. I am not satisfied that the Attorney 

General has met his onus to establish that disclosure of the information would cause injury to 

Canada’s national security or international relations. Flowing from that conclusion, I do not believe 

that it is necessary to impose conditions to limit any injury that could possibly result to the protected 

interests. I will, therefore, exercise my discretion to authorize disclosure of that information without 

conditions.  

 

[121] The applicant seeks his costs for this application. There has been no request for the payment 

of the costs of The Globe and Mail. The Attorney General has been directed to pay the reasonable 

fees and disbursements of the amicus curiae as there is no other readily accessible source of funds 

for that purpose. Apart from that obligation, an award of costs is within the discretion of the Court. 
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In section 38 proceedings, the Attorney General  performs an important public function imposed by 

Parliament. While I have concerns about the length of time that it took to complete the review of the 

material for disclosure purposes, I accept that this was a function of the sensitivity of the 

information and insufficient resources. I note further that Crown counsel voluntarily undertook to 

make disclosure beyond the scope of the requesting state’s Record of the Case when they 

recognized that there was an “air of reality” to the applicant’s claims. In those circumstances, I will 

make no costs award. 
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ORDER 

 

THIS COURT ORDERS THAT: 

1. Pursuant to paragraph 38.02 (2) (b) of the Act, these Public Reasons for Order and Order 

shall be released to the Attorney General of Canada on the date of issuance, and the same 

shall be released to counsel for the applicant and to the public upon the expiry of the period 

for appeal provided in sections 38.09 and 38.1 of the Act; 

2. The prohibition on disclosure of the information contained in RCMP document 1008, an 

October 20, 2004 briefing note to the Commissioner, is not confirmed and disclosure of that 

information is authorized unconditionally pursuant to subsection 38.06 (2) of the Act; 

3. A summary of the other relevant information about which notice was given to the Attorney 

General in this matter shall be disclosed subject to conditions in the form of an Annex to 

Private Reasons for Order and Order which will be issued solely to counsel for the parties; 

4. Subject to the foregoing exceptions, the information specified as “inadvertent disclosures” in 

a list filed with the Court on February 11, 2008, shall not be further disclosed by counsel for 

the applicant; 

5. Counsel for the applicant may retain their unredacted copies of the “inadvertent disclosures” 

for the purpose of preparing for the extradition hearing but shall not disclose the information 

further except as it is summarized in the Annex to the Private Order to be issued in this 

matter;  
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6. The Court shall remain seized of this matter pending the outcome of the extradition 

proceedings and counsel for the parties may seek clarification of these Public Reasons for 

Order and Order at any time in writing with notice to the other party; 

7. The Court Records relating to the hearing shall be kept in a location to which the public has 

no access pursuant to subsection 38.12 of the Act; and 

8. The Order of January 15, 2008 shall continue in effect respecting the payment of the 

reasonable fees and disbursements of the amicus curiae; apart from that, the parties shall 

bear their own costs. 

 

“Richard G. Mosley” 
Judge 
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